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Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Brown & Brown, Inc., together with its subsidiaries (collectively, “we,” “Brown & Brown” or the “Company”), makes “forward-looking statements”
within the “safe harbor” provision of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, as amended, throughout this report and in the documents we
incorporate by reference into this report. You can identify these statements by forward-looking words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “anticipate,”
“believe,” “intend,” “estimate,” “plan” and “continue” or similar words. We have based these statements on our current expectations about future events.
Although we believe the expectations expressed in the forward-looking statements included in this Form 10-Q and those reports, statements, information and
announcements incorporated by reference are based on reasonable assumptions within the bounds of our knowledge of our business, a number of factors could
cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statements, whether oral or written, made by us or on our behalf. Many of
these factors have previously been identified in filings or statements made by us or on our behalf. Important factors which could cause our actual results to differ
materially from the forward-looking statements in this report include the following items, in addition to those matters described in Part I, Item 2 “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”:
 

 •  Material adverse changes in economic conditions in the markets we serve and in the general economy;
 

 •  Future regulatory actions and conditions in the states in which we conduct our business;
 

 •  Competition from others in the insurance agency, wholesale brokerage, insurance programs and service business;
 

 
•  A significant portion of business written by Brown & Brown is for customers located in California, Florida, Indiana, Michigan, New Jersey, New

York, Pennsylvania, Texas and Washington. Accordingly, the occurrence of adverse economic conditions, an adverse regulatory climate, or a disaster
in any of these states could have a material adverse effect on our business;

 

 
•  The integration of our operations with those of businesses or assets we have acquired or may acquire in the future and the failure to realize the

expected benefits of such integration; and
 

 
•  Other risks and uncertainties as may be detailed from time to time in our public announcements and Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)

filings.

Forward-looking statements that we make or that are made by others on our behalf are based on a knowledge of our business and the environment in which
we operate, but because of the factors listed above, among others, actual results may differ from those in the forward-looking statements. Consequently, these
cautionary statements qualify all of the forward-looking statements we make herein. We cannot assure you that the results or developments anticipated by us will
be realized or, even if substantially realized, that those results or developments will yield the expected consequences for us or affect us, our business or our
operations in the way we expect. We caution readers not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of their dates. We
assume no obligation to update any of the forward-looking statements.
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PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1 — FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

BROWN & BROWN, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(UNAUDITED)

 

(in thousands, except per share data)   
For the three months

ended June 30,   
For the six months

ended June 30,
   2010   2009   2010   2009
REVENUES       

Commissions and fees   $241,053   $244,595  $491,727   $508,559
Investment income    346    460   677    770
Other income, net    2,266    1,314   3,534    620

    
 

       
 

   

Total revenues    243,665    246,369   495,938    509,949

EXPENSES       
Employee compensation and benefits    121,372    122,625   243,555    249,966
Non-cash stock-based compensation    1,780    1,695   3,735    3,511
Other operating expenses    33,622    35,620   69,955    71,484
Amortization    12,650    12,519   25,203    24,904
Depreciation    3,129    3,299   6,382    6,632
Interest    3,632    3,632   7,240    7,266
Change in estimated acquisition earn-out payable    (533)   —     (1,229)   —  

    
 

       
 

   

Total expenses    175,652    179,390   354,841    363,763
    

 
       

 
   

Income before income taxes    68,013    66,979   141,097    146,186

Income taxes    26,828    26,311   55,784    57,506
    

 
       

 
   

Net income   $ 41,185   $ 40,668  $ 85,313   $ 88,680
    

 

       

 

   

Net income per share:       
Basic   $ 0.29   $ 0.29  $ 0.60   $ 0.63

    

 

       

 

   

Diluted   $ 0.29   $ 0.29  $ 0.59   $ 0.63
    

 

       

 

   

Weighted average number of shares outstanding:       
Basic    137,685    136,939   137,654    136,937

    

 

       

 

   

Diluted    139,105    137,304   138,937    137,261
    

 

       

 

   

Dividends declared per share   $ 0.0775   $ 0.075  $ 0.155   $ 0.15
    

 

       

 

   

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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BROWN & BROWN, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(UNAUDITED)

 

(in thousands, except per share data)   
June 30,

2010   
December 31,

2009
ASSETS     
Current Assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 293,011  $ 197,113
Restricted cash and investments    145,848   155,257
Short-term investments    8,135   8,213
Premiums, commissions and fees receivable    233,597   209,462
Deferred income taxes    —     11,791
Other current assets    28,670   31,863

        

Total current assets    709,261   613,699

Fixed assets, net    60,074   61,467
Goodwill    1,103,998   1,074,397
Amortizable intangible assets, net    457,939   468,862
Other assets    5,540   5,801

        

Total assets   $2,336,812  $ 2,224,226
        

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY     
Current Liabilities:     

Premiums payable to insurance companies   $ 356,355  $ 310,296
Premium deposits and credits due customers    34,437   37,715
Accounts payable    24,704   17,431
Accrued expenses and other liabilities    82,820   96,387
Current portion of long-term debt    5,766   17,124

        

Total current liabilities    504,082   478,953

Long-term debt    250,000   250,209

Deferred income taxes, net    124,667   115,609

Other liabilities    18,969   9,581

Shareholders’ Equity:     
Common stock, par value $0.10 per share; authorized 280,000 shares; issued and outstanding 142,224 at 2010 and 142,076 at

2009    14,222   14,208
Additional paid-in capital    273,781   267,856
Retained earnings    1,151,088   1,087,805
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of related income tax effect of $2 at 2010 and $3 at 2009    3   5

        

Total shareholders’ equity    1,439,094   1,369,874
        

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity   $2,336,812  $ 2,224,226
        

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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BROWN & BROWN, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(UNAUDITED)

 

   
For the six months

ended June 30,  
(in thousands)   2010   2009  

Cash flows from operating activities:   
Net income   $ 85,313   $ 88,680  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:    

Amortization    25,203    24,904  
Depreciation    6,382    6,632  
Non-cash stock-based compensation    3,735    3,511  
Change in estimated acquisition earn-out payable    (1,229)   —    
Deferred income taxes    20,850    22,670  
Net (gain) loss on sales of investments, fixed assets and customer accounts    (844)   462  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect from acquisitions and divestitures:    
Restricted cash and investments decrease (increase)    9,409    (15,371) 
Premiums, commissions and fees receivable (increase) decrease    (23,042)   10,919  
Other assets decrease    4,161    11,509  
Premiums payable to insurance companies increase    45,486    39,686  
Premium deposits and credits due customers (decrease)    (3,742)   (4,703) 
Accounts payable increase    7,211    14,394  
Accrued expenses (decrease)    (13,678)   (18,315) 
Other liabilities increase    1,516    9  

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by operating activities    166,731    184,987  

Cash flows from investing activities:    
Additions to fixed assets    (4,964)   (6,262) 
Payments for businesses acquired, net of cash acquired    (33,973)   (38,773) 
Proceeds from sales of fixed assets and customer accounts    626    634  
Purchases of investments    (2,638)   (4,247) 
Proceeds from sales of investments    2,719    4,098  

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in investing activities    (38,230)   (44,550) 

Cash flows from financing activities:    
Payments on long-term debt    (12,777)   (8,266) 
Borrowings on revolving credit facility    —      7,580  
Payments on revolving credit facility    —      (7,580) 
Income tax benefit from the issuance of common stock    169    —    
Issuances of common stock for employee stock benefit plans    2,035    501  
Cash dividends paid    (22,030)   (21,235) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in by financing activities    (32,603)   (29,000) 
    

 
   

 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    95,898    111,437  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    197,113    78,557  

    
 

   
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 293,011   $189,994  
    

 

   

 

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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BROWN & BROWN, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)

NOTE 1· Nature of Operations

Brown & Brown, Inc., a Florida corporation, together with its subsidiaries (collectively, “we,” “Brown & Brown,” or the “Company”) is a diversified
insurance agency, wholesale brokerage, insurance programs and services organization that markets and sells to its customers insurance products and services,
primarily in the property and casualty area. Brown & Brown’s business is divided into four reportable segments: the Retail Division, which provides a broad
range of insurance products and services to commercial, public and quasi-public entities, professional and individual customers; the National Programs Division,
which is composed of two units — Professional Programs, which provides professional liability and related package products for certain professionals delivered
through nationwide networks of independent agents, and Special Programs, which markets targeted products and services designated for specific industries, trade
groups, public and quasi-public entities and market niches; the Wholesale Brokerage Division, which markets and sells excess and surplus commercial insurance
and reinsurance, primarily through independent agents and brokers; and the Services Division, which provides insurance-related services, including third-party
claims administration and comprehensive medical utilization management services in both the workers’ compensation and all-lines liability arenas, as well as
Medicare set-aside services.

NOTE 2· Basis of Financial Reporting

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim financial information and with the instructions for Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X.
Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all
adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. These unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto set forth in the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009.

Results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending
December 31, 2010.

NOTE 3· Net Income Per Share

Effective in 2009, the Company adopted new Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) authoritative guidance, which states that unvested share-
based payment awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents are participating securities and, therefore, are included in
computing earnings per share (“EPS”) pursuant to the two-class method. The two-class method determines EPS for each class of common stock and participating
securities according to dividends or dividend equivalents and their respective participation rights in undistributed earnings. Performance stock shares granted to
employees under the Company’s Performance Stock Plan are considered participating securities as they receive non-forfeitable dividend equivalents at the same
rate as common stock. This new guidance was adopted retroactively for the quarter ended March 31, 2009, resulting in no change in either basic or diluted EPS
for periods presented.
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Basic EPS is computed based on the weighted average number of common shares (including participating securities) issued and outstanding during the
period. Diluted EPS is computed based on the weighted average of common shares issued and outstanding, plus equivalent shares assuming the exercise of stock
options. The dilutive effect of stock options is computed by application of the treasury stock method. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2010, the
impact of outstanding options to purchase shares of common stock of 12,000 and 1,457,000 shares, respectively, were antidilutive and were excluded from the
calculation of diluted net income per share. The following is a reconciliation between basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009:
 

   
For the three months

ended June 30,   
For the six months

ended June 30,  
(in thousands, except per share data)   2010   2009   2010   2009  

Net income   $ 41,185   $ 40,668   $ 85,313   $ 88,680  

Net income attributable to unvested awarded performance stock    (1,295)   (1,317)   (2,688)   (2,884) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Net income attributable to common shares   $ 39,890   $ 39,351   $ 82,625   $ 85,796  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Weighted average basic number of common shares outstanding    142,154    141,523    142,133    141,540  

Less unvested awarded performance stock included in weighted average basic share
outstanding    (4,469)   (4,584)   (4,479)   (4,603) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding for basic earnings
per common share    137,685    136,939    137,654    136,937  

Dilutive effect of stock options    1,420    365    1,283    324  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding    139,105    137,304    138,937    137,261  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Net income per share:      
Basic   $ 0.29   $ 0.29   $ 0.60   $ 0.63  

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Diluted   $ 0.29   $ 0.29   $ 0.59   $ 0.63  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

NOTE 4· New Accounting Pronouncements

Subsequent Events — In May 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance establishing general standards of accounting for, and disclosures of, events that
occur after the balance sheet date but before the financial statements are issued or are available to be issued. This guidance, which was incorporated into ASC
Topic 855 — Subsequent Events, was effective on a prospective basis for interim or annual periods ending after June 15, 2009, and was adopted on June 1, 2009.

Subsequent events have been evaluated through the date and time the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements were issued. No material
subsequent events have occurred since June 30, 2010 that required recognition or disclosure in our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

International Accounting Standards — International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) are a set of standards and interpretations adopted by the
International Accounting Standards Board. The SEC is currently considering a potential IFRS adoption process in the United States, which could, in the near
term, provide domestic issuers with an alternative accounting method and which could ultimately replace U.S. GAAP reporting requirements with IFRS reporting
requirements. We are currently investigating the implications should we be required to adopt IFRS in the future.
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NOTE 5· Business Combinations

Acquisitions in 2010

For the six months ended June 30, 2010, Brown & Brown acquired the assets and assumed certain liabilities of ten insurance intermediaries and several
books of business (customer accounts). The aggregate purchase price of these acquisitions was $43,749,000, including $33,262,000 of net cash payments, the
issuance of notes payable of $175,000, the assumption of $1,211,000 of liabilities, and $9,101,000 of recorded earn-out payables. All of these acquisitions were
acquired primarily to expand Brown & Brown’s core businesses and to attract and hire high-quality individuals. Acquisition purchase prices are typically based
on a multiple of average annual operating profit earned over a one- to three-year period, within a minimum and maximum price range. The recorded purchase
prices for all acquisitions consummated after January 1, 2009 include an estimation of the fair value of liabilities associated with any potential earn-out
provisions. Subsequent changes in the fair value of earn-out obligations will be recorded in the consolidated statement of income when incurred.

The fair value of earn-out obligations is based on the present value of the expected future payments to be made to the sellers of the acquired businesses in
accordance with the provisions outlined in the respective purchase agreements. In determining fair value, the acquired business’s future performance is estimated
using financial projections developed by management for the acquired business and reflects market participant assumptions regarding revenue growth and/or
profitability. The expected future payments are estimated on the basis of the earn-out formula and performance targets specified in each purchase agreement
compared with the associated financial projections. These payments are then discounted to present value using a risk-adjusted rate that takes into consideration
the likelihood that the forecasted earn-out payments will be made.

All of these acquisitions have been accounted for as business combinations and are as follows:
 
(in thousands)                      

Name   
Business
Segment   

2010
Date of

Acquisition  

Net
Cash
Paid   

Note
Payable  

Recorded
Earn-out
Payable   

Recorded
Purchase

Price   

Maximum
Potential
Earn-out
Payable

DiMartino Associates, Inc.   Retail  March 1  $ 7,047  $ —    $ 3,402  $10,449  $ 5,637
Stone Insurance Agencies, et al.   Retail  May 1   15,826   —     124   15,950   3,000
Other   Various  Various   10,389   175   5,575   16,139   10,429

                        

Total       $33,262  $ 175  $ 9,101  $42,538  $ 19,066
                        

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the aggregate assets and liabilities acquired as of the date of each acquisition:
 

(in thousands)   DiMartino  Stone   Other   Total  
Fiduciary cash   $ —    $ —     $ —     $ —    
Other current assets    137   516    439    1,092  
Fixed assets    21   70    98    189  
Goodwill    6,890   11,128    9,838    27,856  
Purchased customer accounts    3,380   5,172    5,895    14,447  
Noncompete agreements    21   74    70    165  
Other assets    —     —      —      —    

        
 

   
 

   
 

Total assets acquired    10,449   16,960    16,340    43,749  

Other current liabilities    —     (1,011)   (200)   (1,211) 
        

 
   

 
   

 

Total liabilities assumed    —     (1,011)   (200)   (1,211) 
        

 
   

 
   

 

Net assets acquired   $ 10,449  $15,949   $16,140   $42,538  
        

 

   

 

   

 

The weighted average useful lives for the above acquired amortizable intangible assets are as follows: purchased customer accounts, 15.0 years; and
noncompete agreements, 5.0 years.

Goodwill of $27,856,000, of which $18,806,000 is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes, was assigned to the Retail and Services Divisions in
the amounts of $22,458,000 and $5,398,000, respectively.
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The results of operations for the acquisitions completed during 2010 have been combined with those of the Company since their respective acquisition
dates. The total revenues and income before income taxes from the acquisitions completed through June 30, 2010 included in the Condensed Consolidated
Statement of Income for the three months ended June 30, 2010 were $4,561,000 and $539,000, respectively. The total revenues and income before income taxes
from the acquisitions completed through June 30, 2010 included in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income for the six months ended June 30, 2010
were $6,348,000 and $911,000, respectively. If the acquisitions had occurred as of the beginning of the period, the Company’s results of operations would be as
shown in the following table. These unaudited pro forma results are not necessarily indicative of the actual results of operations that would have occurred had the
acquisitions actually been made at the beginning of the respective periods.
 

(UNAUDITED)   
For the three  months

ended June 30,   
For the six months

ended June 30,
(in thousands, except per share data)   2010   2009   2010   2009
Total revenues   $244,250  $251,915  $500,743  $520,953
Income before income taxes    68,203   68,741   142,671   149,698
Net income    41,300   41,738   86,265   90,811

Net income per share:         
Basic   $ 0.29  $ 0.29  $ 0.61  $ 0.64
Diluted   $ 0.29  $ 0.29  $ 0.60  $ 0.64

Weighted average number of shares outstanding:         
Basic    137,685   136,939   137,654   136,937
Diluted    139,105   137,304   138,937   137,261

Acquisitions in 2009

For the six months ended June 30, 2009, Brown & Brown acquired the assets and assumed certain liabilities of six insurance intermediaries and a book of
business (customer accounts). The aggregate purchase price of these acquisitions was $41,415,000, including $36,285,000 of net cash payments, the assumption
of $1,323,000 of liabilities and $3,807,000 of recorded earn-out payables. All of these acquisitions were acquired primarily to expand Brown & Brown’s core
businesses and to attract and hire high-quality individuals. Acquisition purchase prices are typically based on a multiple of average annual operating profit earned
over a one- to three-year period within a minimum and maximum price range. The recorded purchase prices for all acquisitions consummated after January 1,
2009 includes an estimation of the fair value of liabilities associated with any potential earn-out provisions. Subsequent changes in the fair value of earn-out
obligations will be recorded in the consolidated statements of income when incurred.

The fair value of earn-out obligations is based on the present value of the expected future payments to be made to the sellers of the acquired businesses in
accordance with the provisions outlined in the respective purchase agreements. In determining fair value, the acquired business’s future performance is estimated
using financial projections developed by management for the acquired business and reflects market participant assumptions regarding revenue growth and/or
profitability. The expected future payments are estimated on the basis of the earn-out formula and performance targets specified in each purchase agreement
compared with the associated financial projections. These payments are then discounted to present value using a risk-adjusted rate that takes into consideration
the likelihood that the forecasted earn-out payments will be made.

All of these acquisitions have been accounted for as business combinations and are as follows:
 
(in thousands)                      

Name   
Business
Segment   

2009
Date of

Acquisition   

Net
Cash
Paid   

Note
Payable  

Recorded
Earn-out
Payable   

Recorded
Purchase

Price   

Maximum
Potential
Earn-out
Payable

Conner Strong Companies — Small Business Unit   Retail  January 2  $23,621  $ —    $ —    $23,621  $ —  
Other   Various  Various   12,664   —     3,807   16,471   8,666

                        

Total       $36,285  $ —    $ 3,807  $40,092  $ 8,666
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The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the aggregate assets and liabilities acquired as of the date of each acquisition:
 

(in thousands)   
Conner
Strong   Other   Total  

Fiduciary cash   $ —     $ —     $ —    
Other current assets    556    1,310    1,866  
Fixed assets    52    96    148  
Goodwill    14,062    8,062    22,124  
Purchased customer accounts    9,100    8,114    17,214  
Noncompete agreements    —      65    65  
Other assets    —      (2)   (2) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total assets acquired    23,770    17,645    41,415  

Other current liabilities    (149)   (1,174)   (1,323) 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Total liabilities assumed    (149)   (1,174)   (1,323) 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Net assets acquired   $23,621   $16,471   $40,092  
    

 

   

 

   

 

The weighted average useful lives for the above acquired amortizable intangible assets are as follows: purchased customer accounts, 14.9 years; and
noncompete agreements, 5.0 years.

Goodwill of $22,124,000, of which $19,702,000 is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes, was assigned to the Retail, National Programs and
Wholesale Brokerage Divisions in the amounts of $18,112,000, $3,919,000 and $93,000, respectively.

The results of operations for the acquisitions completed during 2009 have been combined with those of the Company since their respective acquisition
dates. The total revenues and income before income taxes from acquisitions completed through June 30, 2009 included in the Condensed Consolidated Statement
of Income for the three months ended June 30, 2009 were $3,359,000 and ($67,000), respectively. The total revenues and income before income taxes from
acquisitions completed through June 30, 2009 included in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income for the six months ended June 30, 2009 were
$6,364,000 and $759,000, respectively. If the acquisitions had occurred as of the beginning of each period, the Company’s results of operations would be as
shown in the following table. These unaudited pro forma results are not necessarily indicative of the actual results of operations that would have occurred had the
acquisitions actually been made at the beginning of the respective periods.
 

(UNAUDITED)   
For the three  months

ended June 30,   
For the six months

ended June 30,
(in thousands, except per share data)   2009   2008   2009   2008

Total revenues   $246,723  $245,956  $512,685  $507,766
Income before income taxes    67,097   68,046   147,139   154,348
Net income    40,740   41,279   89,258   94,090

Net income per share:         
Basic   $ 0.29  $ 0.29  $ 0.63  $ 0.67
Diluted   $ 0.29  $ 0.29  $ 0.63  $ 0.67

Weighted average number of shares outstanding:         
Basic    136,939   136,041   136,937   136,030
Diluted    137,304   136,584   137,261   136,646
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For acquisitions consummated prior to January 1, 2009, additional consideration paid to sellers as a result of purchase price “earn-out” provisions are
recorded as adjustments to intangible assets when the contingencies are settled. The net additional consideration paid by the Company in 2010 as a result of these
adjustments totaled $1,745,000, all of which was allocated to goodwill. Of the $1,745,000 net additional consideration paid, $710,000 was paid in cash and
$1,035,000 was issued in notes payable. The net additional consideration paid by the Company in 2009 as a result of these adjustments totaled $5,280,000, of
which $5,224,000 was allocated to goodwill, $31,000 to noncompete agreements and $25,000 to purchased customer accounts. Of the $5,280,000 net additional
consideration paid, $2,488,000 was paid in cash and $2,792,000 was issued in notes payable.

As of June 30, 2010, the maximum future contingency payments related to all acquisitions totaled $126,384,000, of which $90,673,000 relates to
acquisitions consummated prior to January 1, 2009 and $35,711,000 relates to acquisitions consummated subsequent to January 1, 2009.

For acquisitions consummated after January 1, 2009, $16,327,000 was initially recorded as the estimated earn-out payable. As of June 30, 2010, the fair
value of the estimated earn-out payable was re-evaluated and reduced by $1,556,000, which resulted in a credit to the Condensed Consolidated Statement of
Income. Additionally, the interest expense accretion to the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income for the three months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 was
$187,000 and $43,000, respectively. The interest expense accretion to the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income for the six months ended June 30, 2010
and 2009 was $327,000 and $43,000, respectively. As of June 30, 2010, the estimated earn-out payable was $15,141,000, of which $2,170,000 is recorded as
current liabilities and $12,971,000 is recorded as non-current liabilities.

NOTE 6· Goodwill

Goodwill is subject to at least an annual assessment for impairment by applying a fair value-based test. Brown & Brown completed its most recent annual
assessment as of November 30, 2009 and identified no impairment as a result of the evaluation.

The changes in goodwill for the six months ended June 30, 2010 are as follows:
 

(in thousands)   Retail   
National

Programs   
Wholesale
Brokerage   Services   Total

Balance as of January 1, 2010   $ 656,108  $ 152,601  $ 256,418  $ 9,270  $ 1,074,397
Goodwill of acquired businesses    24,203   —     —     5,398   29,601
Goodwill disposed of relating to sales of businesses    —     —     —     —     —  

                    

Balance as of June 30, 2010   $ 680,311  $ 152,601  $ 256,418  $ 14,668  $ 1,103,998
                    

NOTE 7· Amortizable Intangible Assets

Amortizable intangible assets at June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009 consisted of the following:
 
   June 30, 2010   December 31, 2009

(in thousands)   

Gross
Carrying

Value   
Accumulated
Amortization  

Net
Carrying

Value   

Weighted
Average

Life
(years)   

Gross
Carrying

Value   
Accumulated
Amortization  

Net
Carrying

Value   

Weighted
Average

Life
(years)

Purchased customer accounts   $761,731  $ (305,209)  $456,522  14.9  $747,717  $ (280,473)  $467,244  14.9
Noncompete agreements    24,886   (23,469)   1,417  7.3   24,721   (23,103)   1,618  7.3

        
 

             
 

     

Total   $786,617  $ (328,678)  $457,939    $772,438  $ (303,576)  $468,862  
        

 

             

 

     

Amortization expense for other amortizable intangible assets for the years ending December 31, 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014 is estimated to be
$50,423,000, $49,174,000, $48,532,000, $47,632,000, and $46,446,000, respectively.
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NOTE 8· Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt at June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009 consisted of the following:
 

(in thousands)   2010   2009  
Unsecured senior notes   $250,000   $250,000  
Acquisition notes payable    5,744    17,289  
Revolving credit facility    —      —    
Other notes payable    22    44  

    
 

   
 

Total debt    255,766    267,333  
Less current portion    (5,766)   (17,124) 

    
 

   
 

Long-term debt   $250,000   $250,209  
    

 

   

 

In July 2004, the Company completed a private placement of $200.0 million of unsecured senior notes (the “Notes”). The $200.0 million is divided into
two series: (1) Series A, which closed on September 15, 2004, for $100.0 million due in 2011 and bearing interest at 5.57% per year; and (2) Series B, which
closed on July 15, 2004, for $100.0 million due in 2014 and bearing interest at 6.08% per year. Brown & Brown has used the proceeds from the Notes for general
corporate purposes, including acquisitions and repayment of existing debt. As of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, there was an outstanding balance of
$200.0 million on the Notes.

On December 22, 2006, the Company entered into a Master Shelf and Note Purchase Agreement (the “Master Agreement”) with a national insurance
company (the “Purchaser”). The Purchaser also purchased Notes issued by the Company in 2004. The Master Agreement provides for a $200.0 million private
uncommitted “shelf” facility for the issuance of senior unsecured notes over a three-year period, with interest rates that may be fixed or floating and with such
maturity dates, not to exceed ten years, as the parties may determine. The Master Agreement includes various covenants, limitations and events of default similar
to the Notes issued in 2004. The initial issuance of notes under the Master Agreement occurred on December 22, 2006, through the issuance of $25.0 million in
Series C Senior Notes due December 22, 2016, with a fixed interest rate of 5.66% per year. On February 1, 2008, $25.0 million in Series D Senior Notes due
January 15, 2015, with a fixed interest rate of 5.37% per year, were issued. As of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, there was an outstanding balance of
$50.0 million under the Master Agreement.

On June 12, 2008, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Revolving Loan Agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with a national banking
institution that was dated as of June 3, 2008, amending and restating the existing Revolving Loan Agreement dated September 29, 2003, as amended (the
“Revolving Agreement”), in order to increase the lending commitment to $50.0 million (subject to potential increases up to $100.0 million) and to extend the
maturity date from December 20, 2011 to June 3, 2013. The Revolving Agreement initially provided for a revolving credit facility in the maximum principal
amount of $75.0 million. After a series of amendments that provided covenant exceptions for the Notes issued or to be issued under the Master Agreement and
relaxed or deleted certain other covenants, the maximum principal amount was reduced to $20.0 million. The calculation of interest and fees is generally based on
the Company’s quarterly ratio of funded debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, and non-cash stock-based compensation. Interest is
charged at a rate equal to 0.50% to 1.00% above the London Interbank Offering Rate (“LIBOR”) or 1.00% below the base rate, each as more fully defined in the
Loan Agreement. Fees include an upfront fee, an availability fee of 0.10% to 0.20%, and a letter of credit usage fee of 0.50% to 1.00%. The Loan Agreement
contains various covenants, limitations, and events of default customary for similar facilities for similar borrowers. The 90-day LIBOR was 0.53% and 0.25% as
of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, respectively. There were no borrowings against this facility at June 30, 2010 or December 31, 2009.

All three of these credit agreements require Brown & Brown to maintain certain financial ratios and comply with certain other covenants. Brown & Brown
was in compliance with all such covenants as of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009.

Acquisition notes payable represent debt incurred to sellers of certain insurance operations that the Company acquired. These notes and future contingent
payments are payable in monthly, quarterly and annual installments through April 2011, including interest in the range from 0.0% to 6.0%.
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NOTE 9· Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information and Non-Cash Financing and Investing Activities
 

   
For the six months

ended June 30,
(in thousands)   2010   2009
Cash paid during the period for:     

Interest   $ 7,221  $ 7,323
Income taxes   $31,425  $24,226

Brown & Brown’s significant non-cash investing and financing activities are summarized as follows:
 

   
For the six months

ended June 30,  
(in thousands)   2010   2009  
Unrealized holding loss on available-for-sale securities, net of tax benefit of $1 for 2010 and

$7 for 2009   $ (2)  $ (13) 
Notes payable issued or assumed for purchased customer accounts   $10,311   $6,599  
Estimated acquisition earn-out payable and related changes   $ 9,101   $3,807  
Notes receivable on the sale of fixed assets and customer accounts   $ 707   $ (981) 

NOTE 10· Comprehensive Income

The components of comprehensive income, net of related income tax effects, are as follows:
 

   
For the three months

ended June 30,   
For the six months

ended June 30,  
(in thousands)   2010   2009   2010   2009  
Net income   $41,185   $40,668  $85,313   $88,680  
Net unrealized holding (gain) loss on available-for-sale securities    (2)   1   (2)   (13) 

    
 

       
 

   
 

Comprehensive income   $41,183   $40,669  $85,311   $88,667  
    

 

       

 

   

 

NOTE 11· Legal and Regulatory Proceedings

Legal Proceedings

The Company is involved in numerous pending or threatened proceedings by or against Brown & Brown, Inc. or one or more of its subsidiaries that arise in
the ordinary course of business. The damages that may be claimed against the Company in these various proceedings are in some cases substantial, including in
many instances claims for punitive or extraordinary damages. Some of these claims and lawsuits have been resolved, others are in the process of being resolved
and others are still in the investigation or discovery phase. The Company will continue to respond appropriately to these claims and lawsuits and to vigorously
protect its interests.

Although the ultimate outcome of such matters cannot be ascertained and liabilities in indeterminate amounts may be imposed on Brown & Brown, Inc. or
its subsidiaries, on the basis of present information, availability of insurance and legal advice, it is the opinion of management that the disposition or ultimate
determination of such claims will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position. However, as (i) one or more of the
Company’s insurance companies could take the position that portions of these claims are not covered by the Company’s insurance, (ii) to the extent that payments
are made to resolve claims and lawsuits, applicable insurance policy limits are eroded, and (iii) the claims and lawsuits relating to these matters are continuing to
develop, it is possible that future results of operations or cash flows for any particular quarterly or annual period could be materially affected by unfavorable
resolutions of these matters.

Governmental Investigations Regarding Compensation Practices

As disclosed in prior years, offices of the Company are parties to profit-sharing contingent commission agreements with certain insurance companies,
including agreements providing for potential payment of revenue-sharing commissions by insurance companies based primarily on the overall profitability of the
aggregate business written with those insurance companies and/or additional factors such as retention ratios and the overall volume of business that an office or
offices place with those insurance companies. Additionally, to a lesser extent, some offices of the Company are parties to override commission agreements with
certain insurance companies, which provide for commission rates in excess of standard commission rates to be applied to specific lines of business, such as group
health business, and which are based primarily on the overall volume of business that such office or offices placed with those insurance companies. The Company
has not chosen to discontinue receiving profit-sharing contingent commissions or override commissions.
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Governmental agencies such as departments of insurance and offices of attorneys general, in a number of states have looked or are looking into issues
related to compensation practices in the insurance industry, and the Company continues to respond to written and oral requests for information and/or subpoenas
seeking information related to this topic. The Company is currently in litigation commenced by the Company against the State Attorney General’s Office in
Connecticut in an effort to protect the confidentiality of information sought by, or produced in response to, a subpoena. In addition, agencies in Arizona, Virginia,
Washington and Florida have concluded their respective investigations of subsidiaries of Brown & Brown, Inc. based in those states.

The Company cannot currently predict the impact or resolution of the various governmental inquiries or related matters and thus cannot reasonably
estimate a range of possible loss, which could be material, or whether the resolution of these matters may harm the Company’s business and/or lead to a decrease
in or elimination of profit-sharing contingent commissions and override commissions, which could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial condition.

For a more complete discussion of the foregoing matters, please see Item 3 of Part I of our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC for our fiscal
year ended December 31, 2009 and Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Item 8 of Part II thereof.

NOTE 12· Segment Information

Brown & Brown’s business is divided into four reportable segments: the Retail Division, which provides a broad range of insurance products and services
to commercial, public and quasi-public entities, and professional and individual customers; the National Programs Division, which is comprised of two units -
Professional Programs, which provides professional liability and related package products for certain professionals delivered through nationwide networks of
independent agents, and Special Programs, which markets targeted products and services designed for specific industries, trade groups, public and quasi-public
entities, and market niches; the Wholesale Brokerage Division, which markets and sells excess and surplus commercial and personal lines insurance, and
reinsurance, primarily through independent agents and brokers; and the Services Division, which provides insurance-related services, including third-party claims
administration and comprehensive medical utilization management services in both the workers’ compensation and all-lines liability arenas, as well as Medicare
set-aside services.

Brown & Brown conducts all of its operations within the United States of America, except for one wholesale brokerage operation based in London,
England that commenced business in March 2008. This operation earned $3.3 million and $2.1 million of total revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2010
and 2009, respectively. This operation earned $5.9 million and $3.1 million of total revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
Additionally, this operation earned $6.6 million of total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2009.

Summarized financial information concerning Brown & Brown’s reportable segments for the six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 is shown in the
following table. The “Other” column includes any income and expenses not allocated to reportable segments and corporate-related items, including the inter-
company interest expense charge to the reporting segment.
 
   For the six months ended June 30, 2010

(in thousands)   Retail   
National

Programs   
Wholesale
Brokerage   Services   Other   Total

Total revenues   $ 296,431  $ 93,303  $ 84,973  $18,791  $ 2,440   $ 495,938
Investment income   $ 117  $ 1  $ 11  $ 9  $ 539   $ 677
Amortization   $ 15,158  $ 4,608  $ 5,111  $ 307  $ 19   $ 25,203
Depreciation   $ 2,734  $ 1,509  $ 1,391  $ 146  $ 602   $ 6,382
Interest   $ 13,687  $ 1,832  $ 5,678  $ 432  $ (14,389)  $ 7,240
Income before income taxes   $ 69,937  $ 36,840  $ 15,672  $ 3,423  $ 15,225   $ 141,097
Total assets   $1,835,552  $638,560  $681,610  $56,924  $(875,834)  $2,336,812
Capital expenditures   $ 1,750  $ 1,532  $ 954  $ 211  $ 517   $ 4,964
 
   For the six months ended June 30, 2009

(in thousands)   Retail   
National

Programs   
Wholesale
Brokerage   Services   Other   Total

Total revenues   $ 307,163  $101,313  $ 83,441  $16,355  $ 1,677   $ 509,949
Investment income   $ 152  $ 2  $ 47  $ 12  $ 557   $ 770
Amortization   $ 14,975  $ 4,562  $ 5,117  $ 231  $ 19   $ 24,904
Depreciation   $ 3,061  $ 1,324  $ 1,436  $ 188  $ 623   $ 6,632
Interest   $ 16,511  $ 2,861  $ 7,449  $ 359  $ (19,914)  $ 7,266
Income before income taxes   $ 69,893  $ 41,678  $ 11,568  $ 3,625  $ 19,422   $ 146,186
Total assets   $1,739,230  $644,934  $654,210  $45,582  $(853,744)  $2,230,212
Capital expenditures   $ 2,101  $ 2,193  $ 1,884  $ 87  $ (3)  $ 6,262
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ITEM 2 — MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

THE FOLLOWING DISCUSSION UPDATES THE MD&A CONTAINED IN THE COMPANY’S ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K FOR THE FISCAL
YEAR ENDED IN 2009, AND THE TWO DISCUSSIONS SHOULD BE READ TOGETHER.

GENERAL

Brown & Brown, Inc. together with its subsidiaries (collectively, “we” or the “Company”) is a diversified insurance agency, wholesale brokerage and
services organization headquartered in Daytona Beach and Tampa, Florida. As an insurance intermediary, our principal sources of revenue are commissions paid
by insurance companies and, to a lesser extent, fees paid directly by customers. Commission revenues generally represent a percentage of the premium paid by an
insured and are materially affected by fluctuations in both premium rate levels charged by insurance companies and the insureds’ underlying “insurable exposure
units,” which are units that insurance companies use to measure or express insurance exposed to risk (such as property values, sales and payroll levels), to
determine what premium to charge the insured. Insurance companies establish these premium rates based upon many factors, including reinsurance rates paid by
such insurance companies, none of which we control.

The volume of business from new and existing insured customers, fluctuations in insurable exposure units and changes in general economic and
competitive conditions all affect our revenues. For example, level rates of inflation or a continuing general decline in economic activity could limit increases in
the values of insurable exposure units. Conversely, the increasing costs of litigation settlements and awards have caused some customers to seek higher levels of
insurance coverage. Historically, our revenues have typically grown as a result of an intense focus on net new business growth and acquisitions.

We foster a strong, decentralized sales culture with a goal of consistent, sustained growth over the long term. Currently, our senior leadership group
includes nine executive officers with regional responsibility for oversight of designated operations within the Company. In July 2009, J. Powell Brown, who
serves as President of Brown & Brown, Inc., succeeded his father, J. Hyatt Brown, as Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Hyatt Brown continues to serve as Chairman
of the Board, and remains actively involved with acquisitions and recruitment. As previously announced, Jim W. Henderson, our Vice Chairman and Chief
Operating Officer, has retired from the Company effective as of August 1, 2010.

We increased revenues every year from 1993 to 2008. However, in 2009, our revenues declined from the prior year to $967.9 million. Our revenue growth
from 1993 to 2009 reflects a compound annual growth rate of 15.6%. In the same period, we increased net income from $8.0 million in 1993 to $153.3 million in
2009, a compound annual growth rate of 20.3%.

The past three years have posed significant challenges for us and for our industry in the form of a prevailing decline in insurance premium rates, commonly
referred to as a “soft market”; increased significant governmental involvement in the Florida insurance marketplace since 2007, resulting in a substantial loss of
revenues for us; and, beginning in the second half of 2008 and throughout 2009, increased pressure on the values of insurable exposure units as the consequence
of the general weakening of the economy in the United States.

Beginning in the first quarter of 2007 through the second quarter of 2010, we experienced negative internal revenue growth each quarter. This was due
primarily to the “soft market,” and, beginning in the second half of 2008 and through the second quarter of 2010, the decline in insurable exposure units, which
further reduced our commissions and fees revenues. Part of the decline in 2007 was the result of the increased governmental involvement in the Florida insurance
marketplace, as described below in “Florida Insurance Overview.” One industry segment that was hit especially hard during these years was the home-building
industry in southern California and, to a lesser extent in Nevada, Arizona and Florida. We have a wholesale brokerage operation that focuses on placing property
and casualty insurance products for that homebuilding segment and a program operation that places errors and omissions professional liability coverages for title
agents. These operations’ revenues were negatively affected by these national economic trends primarily in 2007 and 2008, but continuing through the second
quarter of 2010.

While insurance premium rates continued to decline for most lines of coverage during 2009 and into 2010, the rate of decline appears to be slowing. Since
2008, continued declining exposure units had a greater negative impact on our commissions and fees revenues than declining insurance premium rates. Even
though we do not anticipate significant additional declines in exposure units or pricing in 2010, we currently do not see any indications of improvement in these
areas.

We also earn “profit-sharing contingent commissions,” which are profit-sharing commissions based primarily on underwriting results, but may also reflect
considerations for volume, growth and/or retention. These commissions are primarily received in the first and second quarters of each year, based on the
aforementioned considerations for the prior year(s). Over the last three years, profit-sharing contingent commissions have averaged approximately 5.9% of the
previous year’s total commissions and fees revenue. Profit-sharing contingent commissions are typically included in our total commissions and fees in the
Consolidated Statements of Income in the year received. The term “core commissions and fees” excludes profit-sharing contingent commissions and therefore
represents the revenues earned directly from specific insurance policies sold, and specific fee-based services rendered. In recent years, five national
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insurance companies have replaced the loss-ratio based profit-sharing contingent commission calculation with a guaranteed fixed-based methodology, referred to
as “Guaranteed Supplemental Commissions” (“GSCs”). Since these GSCs are not subject to the uncertainty of loss ratios, they are accrued throughout the year
based on actual premiums written. As of December 31, 2009, we earned $15.9 million from GSCs during 2009, most of which was collected in the first quarter of
2010. For the six-month periods ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, we earned $6.7 million and $8.4 million, respectively, from GSCs.

Fee revenues relate to fees negotiated in lieu of commissions, which are recognized as services are rendered. Fee revenues are generated primarily by:
(1) our Services Division, which provides insurance-related services, including third-party claims administration and comprehensive medical utilization
management services in both the workers’ compensation and all-lines liability arenas, as well as Medicare set-aside services, and (2) our National Programs and
Wholesale Brokerage Divisions, which earn fees primarily for the issuance of insurance policies on behalf of insurance companies. These services are provided
over a period of time, typically one year. Fee revenues, as a percentage of our total commissions and fees, represented 13.3% in 2009 and 13.7% in 2008.

Historically, investment income has consisted primarily of interest earnings on premiums and advance premiums collected and held in a fiduciary capacity
before being remitted to insurance companies. Our policy is to invest available funds in high-quality, short-term fixed income investment securities. As a result of
the bank liquidity and solvency issues in the United States in the last quarter of 2008, we moved substantial amounts of our cash into non-interest bearing
checking accounts so that they would be fully insured by the Federal Depository Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) or into money-market investment funds (a
portion of which recently became FDIC-insured) of SunTrust Bank and Wells Fargo Bank, two large national banks. Investment income also includes gains and
losses realized from the sale of investments.

Florida Insurance Overview

Many states have established “Residual Markets,” which are governmental or quasi-governmental insurance facilities that provide coverage to individuals
and/or businesses that cannot buy insurance in the private marketplace, i.e., “insurers of last resort.” These facilities can be designed to cover any type of risk or
exposure; however, the exposures most commonly subject to such facilities are automobile or high-risk property exposures. Residual Markets can also be referred
to as FAIR Plans, Windstorm Pools, Joint Underwriting Associations, or may even be given names styled after the private sector, such as “Citizens Property
Insurance Corporation” in Florida.

In August 2002, the Florida Legislature created “Citizens Property Insurance Corporation” (“Citizens”) to be the “insurer of last resort” in Florida. Initially,
Citizens charged insurance rates that were higher than those generally prevailing in the private insurance marketplace. In each of 2004 and 2005, four major
hurricanes made landfall in Florida. As a consequence of the resulting significant insurance property losses, Florida property insurance rates increased in 2006. To
counter the increased property insurance rates, the State of Florida instructed Citizens to essentially reduce its property insurance rates by one-half beginning in
January 2007. By state law, Citizens guaranteed these rates through January 1, 2010. As a result, Citizens became one of the most, if not the most, competitive
risk-bearers for a large percentage of Florida’s commercial habitational coastal property exposures, such as condominiums, apartments, and certain assisted living
facilities. Additionally, Citizens became the only insurance market for certain homeowner policies throughout Florida. Today, Citizens is one of the largest
underwriters of coastal property exposures in Florida. Effective January 1, 2010, Citizens raised its insurance rates, on average, 10% for properties with values of
less than $10 million, and more than 10% for properties with values in excess of $10 million. As a result, the impact of Citizens should continue to decline in
2010.

In 2007, Citizens became the principal direct competitor of the insurance companies that underwrite the condominium program administered by one of our
indirect subsidiaries, Florida Intracoastal Underwriters, Limited Company (“FIU”), and the excess and surplus lines insurers represented by our wholesale brokers
such as Hull & Company, Inc., another of our subsidiaries. Consequently, these operations lost significant amounts of revenue to Citizens. During 2008, 2009 and
the first six months of 2010, FIU’s revenues were relatively flat and therefore, Citizens’ impact was not as dramatic as in 2007. Citizens continued to be
competitive with the excess and surplus lines insurers, and therefore negatively affected the revenues of our Florida-based wholesale brokerage operations, such
as Hull & Company, Inc., from 2007 through the first six months of 2010. However, with Citizens’ increased insurance rates effective January 1, 2010, certain
excess and surplus lines insurers may be more competitive with Citizens.

Citizens’ impact on our Florida Retail Division was less severe than on our National Program and Wholesale Brokerage Divisions, because our retail
offices have the ability to place business with Citizens, although at slightly lower commission rates and with greater difficulty in placing coverage.
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Company Overview — Second Quarter of 2010

For fourteen consecutive quarters, we have recorded negative internal revenue growth of our core commissions and fees revenues as a result of the
continuing “soft market,” the competitiveness of Citizens’ rates, and the general weakness of the economy since the second half of 2008. Our total core
commissions and fees revenues, excluding the effect of recent acquisitions, profit-sharing contingencies and sales of books of businesses for the three months
ended June 30, 2010, had a negative internal growth rate of (4.0)%, which represented $9.4 million of net lost business. Of the $9.4 million of net lost business,
$2.6 million related to Proctor Financial, Inc. (“Proctor”), our subsidiary that provides lender-placed insurance for financial institutions that service mortgage
loans, which was primarily the result of several of Proctor’s clients going out of business. Excluding the impact of Proctor, our negative internal growth rate for
the three months ended June 30, 2010 was (3.0)%.

Employee compensation and benefits, and other operating expenses for the second quarter of 2010 decreased, on a net basis, approximately 2.1%, or $3.3
million, from the same period in 2009. However, within that net decrease were $2.0 million of new costs related to new acquisitions that were stand-alone offices.
Therefore, employee compensation and benefits, and other operating expenses from those offices that existed in the same three-month periods ended June 30,
2010 and 2009 (including the new acquisitions that folded into those offices) decreased by $5.3 million. The net reductions from these offices were primarily
related to a reduction in salaries and bonuses of $2.8 million, a reduction in our group health insurance cost of $0.3 million, and broad-based reductions in
occupancy costs, supplies, insurance expenses and bad debt write-offs.

Acquisitions

Approximately 18,000 independent insurance agencies currently operate in the United States. Part of our continuing business strategy is to attract high-
quality insurance agencies to join our operations. Acquisition activity slowed in 2009, in part because potential sellers were dissatisfied with reduced agency
valuations that resulted from lower revenues and operating profits due to the continuing “soft market” and decreasing exposure units. These potential sellers
therefore opted to defer the sales of their insurance agencies. However, even though the overall acquisition environment in 2010 has not changed significantly
from 2009, and we acquired operations with approximately the same amount of annualized revenues during both the first six months of 2010 and 2009, we
consummated the acquisition of ten operations in the first six months of 2010, compared with six acquisitions consummated in the first six months of 2009. A
summary of our acquisitions for the six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 is as follows (in millions, except for number of acquisitions):
 
   Number of Acquisitions   Estimated

Annual
Revenues

  Net Cash
Paid

  Notes
Issued

  Liabilities
Assumed

  Recorded
Earn-out
Payable

  Aggregate
Purchase

PriceFor the Six Months ended June 30:   Asset   Stock             
2010   10  —    $ 19.5  $ 33.2  $ 0.2  $ 1.2  $ 9.1  $ 43.7
2009   6  —    $ 17.8  $ 36.3  $ —    $ 1.3  $ 3.8  $ 41.4

Critical Accounting Policies

Our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“GAAP”). The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses. We continually evaluate our estimates, which are based on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we
believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. These estimates form the basis for our judgments about the carrying values of our assets and liabilities, which
values are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe that of our significant accounting and reporting policies, the more critical policies include our accounting for revenue recognition, business
acquisitions and purchase price allocations, intangible asset impairments and reserves for litigation. In particular, the accounting for these areas requires
significant judgments to be made by management. Different assumptions in the application of these policies could result in material changes in our consolidated
financial position or consolidated results of operations. Refer to Note 1 in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2009 on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) for details regarding our critical and significant accounting
policies.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE THREE AND SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2010 AND 2009

The following discussion and analysis regarding results of operations and liquidity and capital resources should be considered in conjunction with the
accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes.

Financial information relating to our Consolidated Financial Results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 is as follows (in thousands,
except percentages):
 

   
For the three months

ended June 30,   
For the six months

ended June 30,  

   2010   2009   
%

Change  2010   2009   
%

Change 
REVENUES        
Commissions and fees   $234,609   $237,789   (1.3)%  $ 453,047   $ 471,827   (4.0)% 
Profit-sharing contingent commissions    6,444    6,806   (5.3)%   38,680    36,732   5.3% 
Investment income    346    460   (24.8)%   677    770   (12.1)% 
Other income, net    2,266    1,314   72.5%   3,534    620   470.0% 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

 

Total revenues    243,665    246,369   (1.1)%   495,938    509,949   (2.7)% 

EXPENSES        
Employee compensation and benefits    121,372    122,625   (1.0)%   243,555    249,966   (2.6)% 
Non-cash stock-based compensation    1,780    1,695   5.0%   3,735    3,511   6.4% 
Other operating expenses    33,622    35,620   (5.6)%   69,955    71,484   (2.1)% 
Amortization    12,650    12,519   1.0%   25,203    24,904   1.2% 
Depreciation    3,129    3,299   (5.2)%   6,382    6,632   (3.8)% 
Interest    3,632    3,632   0.0%   7,240    7,266   (0.4)% 
Change in estimated acquisition earn-out payable    (533)   —     —  %   (1,229)   —     —  % 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

 

Total expenses    175,652    179,390   (2.1)%   354,841    363,763   (2.5)% 

Income before income taxes    68,013    66,979   1.5%   141,097    146,186   (3.5)% 

Income taxes    26,828    26,311   2.0%   55,784    57,506   (3.0)% 
    

 
   

 
    

 
   

 
 

NET INCOME   $ 41,185   $ 40,668   1.3%  $ 85,313   $ 88,680   (3.8)% 
    

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

 

Net internal growth rate – core commissions and fees    (4.0)%   (4.7)%    (6.3)%   (3.5)%  
Employee compensation and benefits ratio    49.8%   49.8%    49.1%   49.0%  
Other operating expenses ratio    13.8%   14.5%    14.1%   14.0%  

Capital expenditures   $ 2,910   $ 3,104    $ 4,964   $ 6,262   
Total assets at June 30, 2010 and 2009      $2,336,812   $2,230,212   
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Commissions and Fees

Commissions and fees, including profit-sharing contingent commissions, for the second quarter of 2010 decreased $3.5 million, or 1.4%, from the same
period in 2009. Profit-sharing contingent commissions for the second quarter of 2010 decreased $0.3 million or 4.5%, from the second quarter of 2009, to $6.4
million. Core commissions and fees are our commissions and fees, less (i) profit-sharing contingent commissions and (ii) divested business (commissions and
fees generated from offices, books of business or niches sold or terminated). Core commissions and fees revenue for the second quarter of 2010 decreased $3.2
million on a net basis, of which approximately $6.7 million represented core commissions and fees from agencies acquired since the second quarter of 2009.
After divested business of $0.5 million, the remaining net decrease of $9.4 million represented net lost business, which reflects a (4.0%) internal growth rate for
core commissions and fees. Excluding the decline in the core commissions and fees at Proctor, our internal revenue growth rate for the second quarter of 2010 is
(3.0)%, an improvement from the (5.6)% internal growth rate in the first quarter of 2010.

Commissions and fees, including profit-sharing contingent commissions, for the six months ended June 30, 2010 decreased $16.8 million, or 3.3%, from
the same period in 2009. For the six months ended June 30, 2010, profit-sharing contingent commissions increased $2.0 million over the comparable period in
2009, to $38.7 million. Core commissions and fees revenue for the first six months of 2010 decreased $18.8 million, of which approximately $11.7 million of the
total increase represents core commissions and fees from acquisitions that had no comparable operations in the same period of 2009. After divested business of
$0.8 million, the remaining net decrease of $29.7 million represents net lost business, which reflects a (6.3)% internal growth rate for core commissions and fees.
Excluding the decline in the core commissions and fees at Proctor, our internal revenue growth rate for the first six months of 2010 is (4.3)%, an improvement
from the (6.9)% internal growth rate for the 2009 year.

Investment Income

Investment income for the three months ended June 30, 2010 decreased $0.1 million, or 24.8%, from the same period in 2009. Investment income for the
six months ended June 30, 2010 decreased $0.1 million, or 12.1%, from the same period in 2009. These decreases are primarily due to lower investment yields on
higher average invested balances.

Other Income, net

Other income for the three months ended June 30, 2010 reflected income of $2.3 million, compared with $1.3 million in the same period in 2009. Other
income for the six months ended June 30, 2010 reflected income of $3.5 million, compared with $0.6 million in the same period in 2009. Other income consists
primarily of gains and losses from the sale and disposition of assets. Although we are not in the business of selling customer accounts, we periodically will sell an
office or a book of business (one or more customer accounts) that does not produce reasonable margins or demonstrate a potential for growth, or when doing so is
otherwise in the Company’s interest. The $1.0 million increase in Other income, net for the three months ended June 30, 2010 is primarily due to a $1.2 million
legal judgment that we received from prior employees that violated their non-solicitation agreements.

Employee Compensation and Benefits

Employee compensation and benefits for the second quarter of 2010 decreased, on a net basis, approximately 1.0%, or $1.3 million, from the same period
in 2009. However, within that net decrease were $1.6 million of new compensation costs related to new acquisitions that were stand-alone offices. Therefore,
employee compensation and benefits from those offices that existed in the same three-month periods ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 (including the new
acquisitions that folded into those offices) decreased by $2.9 million. The employee compensation and benefit reductions from these offices were primarily
related to a reduction in salaries and bonuses of $2.8 million and a reduction in our group health insurance cost of $0.3 million. Employee compensation and
benefits as a percentage of total revenue was 49.8% for each of the second quarters of 2010 and 2009.

Employee compensation and benefits for the six months ended June 30, 2010 decreased $6.4 million, or 2.6%, from the same period in 2009. However,
within that net decrease were $3.1 million of new compensation costs related to new acquisitions that were stand-alone offices. Therefore, employee
compensation and benefits from those offices that existed in the same six-month periods ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 (including the new acquisitions that
folded into those offices) decreased by $9.5 million. The employee compensation and benefit reductions from these offices were primarily related to a reduction
in salaries and bonuses of $7.4 million and a reduction in our group health insurance cost of $1.4 million. Employee compensation and benefits as a percentage of
total revenue increased slightly to 49.1% for the first six months of 2010, from 49.0% for the first six months of 2009.
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Non-Cash Stock-Based Compensation

The Company grants stock options and non-vested stock awards to its employees. Compensation expense for all share-based awards is recognized in the
financial statements based upon the grant-date fair value of those awards. Non-cash stock-based compensation for the three months ended June 30, 2010
increased approximately $0.1 million, or 5.0%, over the same period in 2009. Non-cash stock-based compensation for the six months ended June 30, 2010
increased approximately $0.2 million, or 6.4%, over the same period in 2009. For the entire year of 2010, we expect the total non-cash stock-based compensation
expense to be approximately $7.8 million, compared with the total cost of $7.4 million for the year 2009. The increased annual estimated cost primarily relates to
new grants of performance stock (PSP).

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses for the second quarter of 2010 decreased $2.0 million, or 5.6%, from the same period in 2009, of which $0.3 million related to
acquisitions that joined as stand-alone offices since July 1, 2009. Therefore, other operating expenses from those offices that existed in both the three-month
periods ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 (including the new acquisitions that folded into those offices) decreased by $2.3 million. These decreases were broad-
based reductions in occupancy costs, supplies, insurance expense and bad debt write-offs.

Other operating expenses for the first six months of 2010 decreased $1.5 million, or 2.1%, from the same period in 2009, of which $0.6 million related to
acquisitions that joined as stand-alone offices since July 1, 2009. Therefore, other operating expenses from those offices that existed in both the six-month periods
ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 (including the new acquisitions that folded into those offices) decreased by $2.1 million. These decreases were broad-based
reductions in occupancy costs, supplies, insurance expense and bad debt write-offs, but partially offset by $2.1 million of increases in legal expenses and errors
and omissions reserves.

Amortization

Amortization expense for the second quarter of 2010 increased $0.1 million, or 1.0%, over the second quarter of 2009. Amortization expense for the six
months ended June 30, 2010 increased $0.3 million, or 1.2%, over the first six months of 2009. These increases are primarily due to the amortization of additional
intangible assets as the result of acquisitions completed since July 1, 2009.

Depreciation

Depreciation expense for the second quarter of 2010 decreased $0.2 million, or 5.2%, from the second quarter of 2009. Depreciation expense for the six
months ended June 30, 2010 decreased $0.3 million, or 3.8%, from the six months ended June 30, 2009. These decreases are due primarily to lower acquisition
activity during 2009.

Interest Expense

Interest expense for the second quarter of 2010 was the same as the comparable quarter in 2009. Interest expense for the six months ended June 30, 2010
decreased less than $0.1 million, or 0.4%, from the same period in 2009. This decrease is a result of a slight reduction in debt outstanding.

Change in estimated acquisition earn-out payable

For acquisitions consummated after January 1, 2009, $16.3 million was initially recorded as estimated acquisition earn-out payable. As of March 31, 2010,
the fair value of the estimated acquisition earn-out payable was re-evaluated and reduced by $0.8 million, and as of June 30, 2010, the fair value of the estimated
acquisition earn-out payable was re-evaluated and reduced by an additional $0.7 million, both of which resulted in a credit to the Condensed Consolidated
Statement of Income. Additionally, the interest expense accretion to the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income for the three months ended June 30, 2010
and 2009 was $0.1 million and $0.1, respectively. The interest expense accretion to the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income for the six months ended
June 30, 2010 and 2009 was $0.3 million and $0.1 million, respectively.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS — SEGMENT INFORMATION

As discussed in Note 12 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, we operate four reportable segments or divisions: the Retail,
National Programs, Wholesale Brokerage, and Services Divisions. On a divisional basis, increases in amortization, depreciation and interest expenses result from
completed acquisitions within a given division in a particular year. Likewise, other income in each division primarily reflects net gains on sales of customer
accounts and fixed assets. As such, in evaluating the operational efficiency of a division, management places emphasis on the net internal growth rate of core
commissions and fees revenue, the gradual improvement of the ratio of total employee compensation and benefits to total revenues, and the gradual improvement
of the ratio of other operating expenses to total revenues.
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Total core commissions and fees are our total commissions and fees, less (i) profit-sharing contingent commissions (revenue derived from special revenue-
sharing commissions from insurance companies based upon the volume and the growth and/or profitability of the business placed with such companies during the
prior year), and (ii) divested business (commissions and fees generated from offices, books of business or niches sold by the Company or terminated).

The internal growth rates for our core commissions and fees for the three months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, by divisional units are as follows (in
thousands, except percentages):
 

2010   
For the three months

ended June 30,   Total Net
Change  

 Total Net
Growth % 

 
Less

Acquisition
Revenues

  
Internal

Net
Growth $ 

 
Internal

Net
Growth %    2010   2009        

Florida Retail   $ 42,320  $ 43,910  $(1,590)  (3.6)%  $ 19  $(1,609)  (3.7)% 
National Retail    80,093   78,638   1,455   1.9%   3,078   (1,623)  (2.1)% 
Western Retail    23,885   24,459   (574)  (2.3)%   1,558   (2,132)  (8.7)% 

            
 

        
 

 

Total Retail    146,298   147,007   (709)  (0.5)%   4,655   (5,364)  (3.6)% 
            

 
        

 
 

Professional Programs    9,343   9,734   (391)  (4.0)%   —     (391)  (4.0)% 
Special Programs    27,854   30,893   (3,039)  (9.8)%   188   (3,227)  (10.4)% 

            
 

        
 

 

Total National Programs    37,197   40,627   (3,430)  (8.4)%   188   (3,618)  (8.9)% 
            

 
        

 
 

Wholesale Brokerage    41,385   41,409   (24)  (0.1)%   434   (458)  (1.1)% 
Services    9,729   8,259   1,470   17.8%   1,442   28   0.3% 

            
 

        
 

 

Total Core Commissions and Fees   $234,609  $237,302  $(2,693)  (1.1)%  $ 6,719  $(9,412)  (4.0)% 
            

 

        

 

 

The reconciliation of the above internal growth schedule to the total Commissions and Fees included in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income
for the three months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 is as follows (in thousands, except percentages):
 

   
For the three months

ended June 30,
   2010   2009
Total core commissions and fees   $234,609  $237,302
Profit-sharing contingent commissions    6,444   6,806
Divested business    —     487

        

Total commission & fees   $241,053  $244,595
         

(1) The Retail segment includes commissions and fees reported in the “Other” column of the Segment Information in Note 12 of the Notes to the Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements, which includes corporate and consolidation items.
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2009   
For the three months

ended June 30,   Total Net
Change  

 Total Net
Growth % 

 
Less

Acquisition
Revenues

  
Internal

Net
Growth $  

 
Internal

Net
Growth %    2009   2008        

Florida Retail   $ 43,991  $ 45,334  $(1,343)  (3.0)%  $ 2,536  $ (3,879)  (8.6)% 
National Retail    78,857   73,603   5,254   7.1%   9,345   (4,091)  (5.6)% 
Western Retail    24,646   23,688   958   4.0%   4,467   (3,509)  (14.8)% 

            
 

        
 

 

Total Retail    147,494   142,625   4,869   3.4%   16,348   (11,479)  (8.0)% 
            

 
        

 
 

Professional Programs    9,531   9,335   196   2.1%   —     196   2.1% 
Special Programs    31,096   27,412   3,684   13.4%   314   3,370   12.3% 

            
 

        
 

 

Total National Programs    40,627   36,747   3,880   10.6%   314   3,566   9.7% 
            

 
        

 
 

Wholesale Brokerage    41,409   44,370   (2,961)  (6.7)%   364   (3,325)  (7.5)% 
Services    8,259   7,982   277   3.5%   —     277   3.5% 

            
 

        
 

 

Total Core Commissions and Fees   $237,789  $231,724  $ 6,065   2.6%  $ 17,026  $(10,961)  (4.7)% 
            

 

        

 

 

The reconciliation of the above internal growth schedule to the total Commissions and Fees included in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income
for the three months ended June 30, 2009 and 2008 is as follows (in thousands, except percentages):
 

   
For the three months

ended June 30,
   2009   2008
Total core commissions and fees   $237,789  $231,724
Profit-sharing contingent commissions    6,806   5,412
Divested business    —     1,699

        

Total commission & fees   $244,595  $238,835
         

(1) The Retail segment includes commissions and fees reported in the “Other” column of the Segment Information in Note 12 of the Notes to the Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements, which includes corporate and consolidation items.

The internal growth rates for our core commissions and fees for the six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, by divisional units are as follows (in
thousands, except percentages):
 

2010   
For the six months

ended June 30,   Total Net
Change  

 Total Net
Growth % 

 
Less

Acquisition
Revenues

  
Internal

Net
Growth $  

 
Internal

Net
Growth %    2010   2009        

Florida Retail   $ 79,696  $ 83,989  $ (4,293)  (5.1)%  $ 33  $ (4,326)  (5.2)% 
National Retail    157,998   156,112   1,886   1.2%   5,218   (3,332)  (2.1)% 
Western Retail    45,845   49,527   (3,682)  (7.4)%   2,484   (6,166)  (12.4)% 

            
 

        
 

 

Total Retail    283,539   289,628   (6,089)  (2.1)%   7,735   (13,824)  (4.8)% 
            

 
        

 
 

Professional Programs    19,169   20,463   (1,294)  (6.3)%   —     (1,294)  (6.3)% 
Special Programs    56,427   68,704   (12,277)  (17.9)%   740   (13,017)  (18.9)% 

            
 

        
 

 

Total National Programs    75,596   89,167   (13,571)  (15.2)%   740   (14,311)  (16.0)% 
            

 
        

 
 

Wholesale Brokerage    75,187   75,871   (684)  (0.9)%   853   (1,537)  (2.0)% 
Services    18,725   16,344   2,381   14.6%   2,328   53   0.3% 

            
 

        
 

 

Total Core Commissions and Fees   $453,047  $471,010  $(17,963)  (3.8)%  $ 11,656  $(29,619)  (6.3)% 
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The reconciliation of the above internal growth schedule to the total Commissions and Fees included in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income
for the six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 is as follows (in thousands, except percentages):
 

   
For the six months

ended June 30,
   2010   2009
Total core commissions and fees   $453,047  $471,010
Profit-sharing contingent commissions    38,680   36,732
Divested business    —     817

        

Total commission & fees   $491,727  $508,559
         

(1) The Retail segment includes commissions and fees reported in the “Other” column of the Segment Information in Note 12 of the Notes to the Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements, which includes corporate and consolidation items.

 

2009   
For the six months

ended June 30,   Total Net
Change  

 Total Net
Growth % 

 
Less

Acquisition
Revenues

  
Internal

Net
Growth $  

 
Internal

Net
Growth %    2009   2008        

Florida Retail   $ 84,122  $ 86,561  $ (2,439)  (2.8)%  $ 6,203  $ (8,642)  (10.0)% 
National Retail    156,384   143,759   12,625   8.8%   20,788   (8,163)  (5.7)% 
Western Retail    49,939   44,775   5,164   11.5%   12,033   (6,869)  (15.3)% 

            
 

        
 

 

Total Retail    290,445   275,095   15,350   5.6%   39,024   (23,674)  (8.6)% 
            

 
        

 
 

Professional Programs    20,103   19,580   523   2.7%   —     523   2.7% 
Special Programs    69,064   55,212   13,852   25.1%   314   13,538   24.5% 

            
 

        
 

 

Total National Programs    89,167   74,792   14,375   19.2%   314   14,061   18.8% 
            

 
        

 
 

Wholesale Brokerage    75,871   81,248   (5,377)  (6.6)%   1,082   (6,459)  (7.9)% 
Services    16,344   15,915   429   2.7%   —     429   2.7% 

            
 

        
 

 

Total Core Commissions and Fees   $471,827  $447,050  $24,777   5.5%  $ 40,420  $(15,643)  (3.5)% 
            

 

        

 

 

The reconciliation of the above internal growth schedule to the total Commissions and Fees included in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income
for the six months ended June 30, 2009 and 2008 is as follows (in thousands, except percentages):
 

   
For the six months

ended June 30,
   2009   2008
Total core commissions and fees   $471,827  $447,050
Profit-sharing contingent commissions    36,732   41,759
Divested business    —     3,554

        

Total commission & fees   $508,559  $492,363
         

(1) The Retail segment includes commissions and fees reported in the “Other” column of the Segment Information in Note 12 of the Notes to the Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements, which includes corporate and consolidation items.

Retail Division

The Retail Division provides a broad range of insurance products and services to commercial, public and quasi-public, professional and individual insured
customers. More than 96.0% of the Retail Division’s commissions and fees revenues are commission-based. Since the majority of our operating expenses do not
change as premiums fluctuate, we believe that most of any fluctuation in the commissions, (net of related producer compensation and bonuses) that we receive,
will be reflected in our pre-tax income.
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Financial information relating to Brown & Brown’s Retail Division for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 is as follows (in thousands,
except percentages):
 

   
For the three months

ended June 30,   
For the six months

ended June 30,  

   2010   2009   
%

Change  2010   2009   
%

Change 
REVENUES        
Commissions and fees   $145,946   $147,041   (0.7)%  $ 283,018   $ 289,722   (2.3)% 
Profit-sharing contingent commissions    797    1,264   (36.9)%   12,119    17,434   (30.5)% 
Investment income    57    88   (35.2)%   117    152   (23.0)% 
Other income (loss), net    379    720   (47.4)%   1,177    (145)  (911.7)% 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

 

Total revenues    147,179    149,113   (1.3)%   296,431    307,163   (3.5)% 

EXPENSES        
Employee compensation and benefits    72,577    73,980   (1.9)%   146,234    150,560   (2.9)% 
Non-cash stock-based compensation    888    1,179   (24.7)%   1,776    2,369   (25.0)% 
Other operating expenses    24,211    25,053   (3.4)%   48,237    49,794   (3.1)% 
Amortization    7,623    7,543   1.1%   15,158    14,975   1.2% 
Depreciation    1,334    1,517   (12.1)%   2,734    3,061   (10.7)% 
Interest    6,676    7,988   (16.4)%   13,687    16,511   (17.1)% 
Change in acquisition earn-out payable    (590)   —     —  %   (1,332)   —     —  % 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

 

Total expenses    112,719    117,260   (3.9)%   226,494    237,270   (4.5)% 

Income before income taxes   $ 34,460   $ 31,853   8.2%  $ 69,937   $ 69,893   0.1% 
    

 
   

 
    

 
   

 
 

Net internal growth rate – core commissions and fees    (3.6)%   (8.0)%    (4.8)%   (8.6)%  
Employee compensation and benefits ratio    49.3%   49.6%    49.3%   49.0%  
Other operating expenses ratio    16.5%   16.8%    16.3%   16.2%  

Capital expenditures   $ 966   $ 955    $ 1,750   $ 2,101   
Total assets at June 30, 2010 and 2009      $1,835,552   $1,739,230   

The Retail Division’s total revenues during the three months ended June 30, 2010 decreased 1.3%, or $1.9 million, from the same period in 2009, to $147.2
million. Profit-sharing contingent commissions for the second quarter of 2010 decreased $0.5 million, or 36.9%, from the second quarter of 2009. The $1.1
million net decrease in commissions and fees revenue resulted from the following factors: (i) an increase of approximately $4.7 million related to the core
commissions and fees revenue from acquisitions that had no comparable revenues in the same period of 2009, (ii) a decrease of $0.5 million related to
commissions and fees revenue recorded in the second quarter of 2009 from business divested during 2010, and (iii) the remaining net decrease of $5.3 million is
primarily related to net lost business. The Retail Division’s internal growth rate for core commissions and fees revenue was (3.6)% for the second quarter of 2010,
and was driven by lower insurance property rates and reduced insurable exposure units in most areas of the United States.

Income before income taxes for the three months ended June 30, 2010 increased 8.2%, or $2.6 million, over the same period in 2009, to $34.5 million.
Even though total revenues were down $1.9 million, employee compensation and benefits were reduced $1.4 million primarily due to lower salaries and bonuses,
other operating expenses were reduced by $0.8 million due to broad-based reductions, a lower inter-company interest allocation of $1.3 million resulted from less
acquisition activity and a $0.6 million credit resulted from changes in the estimated acquisition earn-out payable.

The Retail Division’s total revenues during the six months ended June 30, 2010 decreased 3.5%, or $10.7 million, from the same period in 2009, to $296.4
million. Profit-sharing contingent commissions for the six months ended June 30, 2010 decreased $5.3 million, or 30.5%, from the same period in 2009, primarily
due to increased loss ratios resulting in lower profitability for insurance companies in 2009. The $6.7 million net decrease in commissions and fees revenue
resulted from the following factors: (i) an increase of approximately $7.7 million related to the core commissions and fees revenue from acquisitions that had no
comparable revenues in
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the same period of 2009, (ii) a decrease of $0.8 million related to commissions and fees revenue recorded in the six months of 2009 from business divested during
2010, and (iii) the remaining net decrease of $13.6 million is primarily related to net lost business. The Retail Division’s internal growth rate for core
commissions and fees revenue was (4.8)% for the first six months of 2010, and was driven by lower insurance property rates and reduced insurable exposure units
in most areas of the United States.

Income before income taxes for the six months ended June 30, 2010 increased 0.1%, or less than $0.1 million, over the same period in 2009, to $69.9
million. Even though total revenues were down $10.7 million, employee compensation and benefits were reduced $4.3 million primarily due to lower salaries and
bonuses, other operating expenses were reduced by $1.6 million due to broad-based reductions, a lower inter-company interest allocation of $2.8 million resulted
from less acquisition activity and a $1.3 million credit resulted from changes in the estimated acquisition earn-out payable.

National Programs Division

The National Programs Division is comprised of two units: Professional Programs, which provides professional liability and related package products for
certain professionals delivered through nationwide networks of independent agents; and Special Programs, which markets targeted products and services
designated for specific industries, trade groups, public and quasi-public entities and market niches. Like the Retail and Wholesale Brokerage Divisions, the
National Programs Division’s revenues are primarily commission-based.

Financial information relating to our National Programs Division for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 is as follows (in thousands,
except percentages):
 

   
For the three months

ended June 30,   
For the six months

ended June 30,  

   2010   2009   
%

Change  2010   2009   
%

Change 
REVENUES        
Commissions and fees   $37,197   $40,627   (8.4)%  $ 75,596   $ 89,167   (15.2)% 
Profit-sharing contingent commissions    1,062    2,758   (61.5)%   17,657    12,144   45.4% 
Investment income    —      1   (100.0)%   1    2   (50.0)% 
Other income, net    45    6   650.0%   49    —     —  % 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

 

Total revenues    38,304    43,392   (11.7)%   93,303    101,313   (7.9)% 

EXPENSES        
Employee compensation and benefits    16,952    17,438   (2.8)%   36,045    37,060   (2.7)% 
Non-cash stock-based compensation    207    260   (20.4)%   409    513   (20.3)% 
Other operating expenses    5,169    6,061   (14.7)%   12,050    13,315   (9.5)% 
Amortization    2,303    2,293   0.4%   4,608    4,562   1.0% 
Depreciation    745    664   12.2%   1,509    1,324   14.0% 
Interest    844    1,392   (39.4)%   1,832    2,861   (36.0)% 
Change in acquisition earn-out payable    5    —     —  %   10    —     —  % 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

 

Total expenses    26,225    28,108   (6.7)%   56,463    59,635   (5.3)% 

Income before income taxes   $12,079   $15,284   (21.0)%  $ 36,840   $ 41,678   (11.6)% 
    

 
   

 
    

 
   

 
 

Net internal growth rate – core commissions and fees    (8.9)%   9.7%    (16.0)%   18.8%  
Employee compensation and benefits ratio    44.3%   40.2%    38.6%   36.6%  
Other operating expenses ratio    13.5%   14.0%    12.9%   13.1%  

Capital expenditures   $ 1,304   $ 1,110    $ 1,532   $ 2,193   
Total assets at June 30, 2010 and 2009      $638,560   $644,934   
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Total revenues for National Programs for the three months ended June 30, 2010 decreased 11.7%, or $5.1 million, from the same period in 2009, to $38.3
million. Profit-sharing contingent commissions for the second quarter of 2010 decreased $1.7 million from the second quarter of 2009. Of the $3.4 million net
decrease in commissions and fees revenue for National Programs: (i) an increase of approximately $0.2 million related to the core commissions and fees revenue
from acquisitions that had no comparable revenues in the same period of 2009, and (ii) the remaining net decrease of $3.6 million is primarily related to net lost
business. Therefore, the National Programs Division’s internal growth rate for core commissions and fees revenue was (8.9)% for the three months ended
June 30, 2010. Of the $3.6 million of net lost business, $2.6 million related to Proctor, which was primarily the result of several of Proctor’s clients going out of
business, $0.6 related to our condominium program at FIU, and $0.3 million related to our public entity business. It is expected that Proctor’s commissions and
fees revenue for the third and fourth quarters of 2010 will be down $1 million to $2 million from each of the respective quarters of 2009.

Income before income taxes for the three months ended June 30, 2010 decreased 21.0%, or $3.2 million, from the same period in 2009, to $12.1 million.
This decrease is primarily due to a net decrease in income before income taxes at Proctor.

Total revenues for National Programs for the six months ended June 30, 2010 decreased 7.9%, or $8.0 million, from the same period in 2009, to $93.3
million. Profit-sharing contingent commissions for the six months ended June 30, 2010 increased $5.5 million over the same period of 2009, of which $3.5
million of that increase related to Proctor. Proctor’s increased profit-sharing contingent commissions were the direct result of the substantial premium growth
generated by Proctor in 2009. Of the $13.6 million net decrease in commissions and fees for National Programs: (i) an increase of approximately $0.7 million
related to the core commissions and fees revenue from acquisitions that had no comparable revenues in the same period of 2009, and (ii) the remaining net
decrease of $14.3 million is primarily related to net lost business. Therefore, the National Programs Division’s internal growth rate for core commissions and fees
revenue was (16.0)% for the six months ended June 30, 2010. Of the $14.3 million of net lost business, $11.0 million related to Proctor, which was primarily the
result of several of Proctor’s clients going out of business, $1.8 million related to our public entity business, $1.1 million related to the Lawyer program and $0.6
million related to FIU.

Income before income taxes for the six months ended June 30, 2010 decreased 11.6%, or $4.8 million, from the same period in 2009, to $36.8 million. This
decrease is primarily due to a net decrease in income before income taxes at Proctor.

Wholesale Brokerage Division

The Wholesale Brokerage Division markets and sells excess and surplus commercial and personal lines insurance and reinsurance, primarily through
independent agents and brokers. Like the Retail and National Programs Divisions, the Wholesale Brokerage Division’s revenues are primarily commission-based.

Financial information relating to our Wholesale Brokerage Division for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 is as follows (in thousands,
except percentages):
 

   
For the three months

ended June 30,   
For the six months

ended June 30,  

   2010   2009   
%

Change  2010   2009   
%

Change 
REVENUES        
Commissions and fees   $41,385   $41,409   (0.1)%  $ 75,187   $ 75,871   (0.9)% 
Profit-sharing contingent commissions    4,585    2,784   64.7%   8,904    7,154   24.5% 
Investment income    6    18   (66.7)%   11    47   (76.6)% 
Other income, net    573    249   130.1%   871    369   136.0% 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

 

Total revenues    46,549    44,460   4.7%   84,973    83,441   1.8% 

EXPENSES        
Employee compensation and benefits    21,167    20,958   1.0%   41,123    41,465   (0.8)% 
Non-cash stock-based compensation    173    248   (30.2)%   346    501   (30.9)% 
Other operating expenses    7,783    7,849   (0.8)%   15,626    15,905   (1.8)% 
Amortization    2,554    2,558   (0.2)%   5,111    5,117   (0.1)% 
Depreciation    676    720   (6.1)%   1,391    1,436   (3.1)% 
Interest    2,676    3,548   (24.6)%   5,678    7,449   (23.8)% 
Change in acquisition earn-out payable    12    —     —  %   26    —     —  % 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

 

Total expenses    35,041    35,881   (2.3)%   69,301    71,873   (3.6)% 

Income before income taxes   $11,508   $ 8,579   34.1%  $ 15,672   $ 11,568   35.5% 
    

 
   

 
    

 
   

 
 

Net internal growth rate – core commissions and fees    (1.1)%   (7.5)%    (2.0)%   (7.9)%  
Employee compensation and benefits ratio    45.5%   47.1%    48.4%   49.7%  
Other operating expenses ratio    16.7%   17.7%    18.4%   19.1%  

Capital expenditures   $ 461   $ 840    $ 954   $ 1,884   
Total assets at June 30, 2010 and 2009      $681,610   $654,210   
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The Wholesale Brokerage Division’s total revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2010 increased 4.7%, or $2.1 million, over the same period in
2009, to $46.5 million. Profit-sharing contingent commissions for the second quarter of 2010 increased $1.8 million over the same quarter of 2009. Of the less
than $0.1 million net decrease in commissions and fees revenue: (i) an increase of approximately $0.4 million related to core commissions and fees revenue from
acquisitions that had no comparable revenues in the same period of 2009, and (ii) the remaining net decrease of $0.5 million is primarily due to net lost business.
As such, the Wholesale Brokerage Division’s internal growth rate for core commissions and fees revenue was (1.1)% for the second quarter of 2010. The bulk of
the net lost business was due to lower insurance rates and reduced exposure units in most areas of the United States.

Income before income taxes for the three months ended June 30, 2010 increased 34.1%, or $2.9 million, over the same period in 2009, to $11.5 million,
primarily due to increased profit-sharing contingent commissions, a net reduction in the inter-company interest expense allocation of $0.9 million and continued
improved efficiencies relating to employee compensation costs.

The Wholesale Brokerage Division’s total revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2010 increased 1.8%, or $1.5 million, over the same period in 2009,
to $85.0 million. Profit-sharing contingent commissions for the six months ended June 30, 2010 increased $1.8 million from the same quarter of 2009. Of the $0.7
million net decrease in commissions and fees revenue: (i) an increase of approximately $0.8 million related to core commissions and fees revenue from
acquisitions that had no comparable revenues in the same period of 2009, and (ii) the remaining net decrease of $1.5 million is primarily due to net lost business.
As such, the Wholesale Brokerage Division’s internal growth rate for core commissions and fees revenue was (2.0)% for the six months ended June 30, 2010. The
bulk of the net lost business was due to lower insurance rates and reduced exposure units in most areas of the United States.

Income before income taxes for the six months ended June 30, 2010 increased 35.5%, or $4.1 million, over the same period in 2009, to $15.7 million,
primarily due to increased profit-sharing contingent commissions, a net reduction in the inter-company interest expense allocation of $1.8 million and continued
improved efficiencies relating to employee compensation costs.

Services Division

The Services Division provides insurance-related services, including third-party claims administration and comprehensive medical utilization management
services in both the workers’ compensation and all-lines liability arenas, as well as Medicare set-aside services. Unlike our other segments, approximately 98.9%
of the Services Division’s 2009 commissions and fees revenues are generated from fees, which are not significantly affected by fluctuations in general insurance
premiums.
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Financial information relating to our Services Division for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 is as follows (in thousands, except
percentages):
 

   
For the three months

ended June 30,   
For the six months

ended June 30,  

   2010   2009   
%

Change  2010   2009   
%

Change 
REVENUES        
Commissions and fees   $9,729   $8,259   17.8%  $18,725   $16,344   14.6% 
Profit-sharing contingent commissions    —      —     —  %   —      —     —  % 
Investment income    4    6   (33.3)%   9    12   (25.0)% 
Other income (loss), net    48    (1)  NMF%   57    (1)  NMF% 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

 

Total revenues    9,781    8,264   18.4%   18,791    16,355   14.9% 

EXPENSES        
Employee compensation and benefits    5,654    4,687   20.6%   11,051    9,454   16.9% 
Non-cash stock-based compensation    21    41   (48.8)%   43    82   (47.6)% 
Other operating expenses    1,655    1,263   31.0%   3,322    2,416   37.5% 
Amortization    161    116   38.8%   307    231   32.9% 
Depreciation    75    88   (14.8)%   146    188   (22.3)% 
Interest    218    166   31.3%   432    359   20.3% 
Change in acquisition earn-out payable    40    —     —  %   67    —     —  % 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

 

Total expenses    7,824    6,361   23.0%   15,368    12,730   20.7% 

Income before income taxes   $1,957   $1,903   2.8%  $ 3,423   $ 3,625   (5.6)% 
    

 
   

 
    

 
   

 
 

Net internal growth rate – core commissions and fees    0.3%   3.5%    0.3%   2.7%  
Employee compensation and benefits ratio    57.8%   56.7%    58.8%   57.8%  
Other operating expenses ratio    16.9%   15.3%    17.7%   14.8%  

Capital expenditures   $ 155   $ 80    $ 211   $ 87   
Total assets at June 30, 2010 and 2009      $56,924   $45,582   

The Services Division’s total revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2010 increased 18.4%, or $1.5 million, over the same period in 2009, to $9.8
million, which was almost exclusively due to an acquisition that had no comparable revenues in the same period of 2009. Core commissions and fees revenue
reflects an internal growth rate of 0.3% for the second quarter of 2010, primarily due to net new business at our Medicare set-aside services business, which was
partially offset by reduced revenues in our comprehensive medical utilization management services.

Income before income taxes for the three months ended June 30, 2010 increased 2.8%, or $0.1 million, over the same period in 2009 to $2.0 million,
primarily due to the new acquisition.

The Services Division’s total revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2010 increased 14.9%, or $2.4 million, over the same period in 2009, to $18.8
million, which was almost exclusively due to an acquisition that had no comparable revenues in the same period of 2009. Core commissions and fees revenue
reflects an internal growth rate of 0.3% for the six months ended June 30, 2010, primarily due to net new business at our Medicare set-aside services business,
which was partially offset by reduced revenues in our comprehensive medical utilization management services.

Income before income taxes for the six months ended June 30, 2010 decreased 5.6%, or $0.2 million, from the same period in 2009 to $3.4 million. The
reduction in income before income taxes is primarily due to $0.1 million of additional salaries relating to increased staffing on a new contract and $0.3 million in
increased legal fees, but partially offset by the increase in income earned by the new acquisition.
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Other

As discussed in Note 12 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, the “Other” column in the Segment Information table includes any
income and expenses not allocated to reportable segments, and corporate-related items, including the inter-company interest expense charges to reporting
segments.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our cash and cash equivalents of $293.0 million at June 30, 2010 reflected an increase of $95.9 million over the $197.1 million balance at December 31,
2009. For the six-month period ended June 30, 2010, $166.7 million of cash was provided from operating activities. Also during this period, $34.0 million of cash
was used for acquisitions, $5.0 million was used for additions to fixed assets, $12.8 million was used for payments on long-term debt and $22.0 million was used
for payment of dividends.

Our ratio of current assets to current liabilities (the “current ratio”) was 1.41 and 1.28 at June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, respectively.

Contractual Cash Obligations

As of June 30, 2010, our contractual cash obligations were as follows:
 
   Payments Due by Period

(in thousands)   Total   
Less Than

1 Year   1-3 Years   4-5 Years   
After 5
Years

Long-term debt   $ 255,766  $ 5,766  $ 100,000  $ 100,000  $ 50,000
Other long-term liabilities    11,031   5,644   3,852   433   1,102
Operating leases    98,181   23,748   36,021   21,418   16,994
Interest obligations    46,567   14,411   18,835   11,233   2,088
Unrecognized tax benefits    487   —     487   —     —  
Maximum future acquisition earn-out payments    126,384   68,210   58,174   —     —  

                    

Total contractual cash obligations   $ 538,416  $ 117,779  $ 217,369  $ 133,084  $ 70,184
                     

(1) Includes the current portion of other long-term liabilities.
(2) Includes $15.1 million of current and non-current estimated earn-out payable resulting from acquisitions consummated after January 1, 2009.

In July 2004, we completed a private placement of $200.0 million of unsecured senior notes (the “Notes”). The $200.0 million is divided into two series:
Series A, for $100.0 million due in 2011 and bearing interest at 5.57% per year; and Series B, for $100.0 million due in 2014 and bearing interest at 6.08% per
year. We have used the proceeds from the Notes for general corporate purposes, including acquisitions and repayment of existing debt. As of June 30, 2010 and
December 31, 2009, there was an outstanding balance of $200.0 million on the Notes.

On December 22, 2006, we entered into a Master Shelf and Note Purchase Agreement (the “Master Agreement”) with a national insurance company (the
“Purchaser”). The Purchaser also purchased Notes issued by us in 2004. The Master Agreement provides for a $200.0 million private uncommitted “shelf”
facility for the issuance of senior unsecured notes over a three-year period, with interest rates that may be fixed or floating and with such maturity dates, not to
exceed ten years, as the parties may determine. The Master Agreement includes various covenants, limitations and events of default similar to the Notes issued in
2004. The initial issuance of notes under the Master Agreement occurred on December 22, 2006, through the issuance of $25.0 million in Series C Senior Notes
due December 22, 2016, with a fixed interest rate of 5.66% per annum. On February 1, 2008, $25.0 million in Series D Senior Notes due January 15, 2015, with a
fixed interest rate of 5.37% per annum were issued. As of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009 there was an outstanding balance of $50.0 million under the
Master Agreement.

        On June 12, 2008, we entered into an Amended and Restated Revolving Loan Agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with a national banking institution that
was dated as of June 3, 2008, amending and restating the existing Revolving Loan Agreement dated September 29, 2003, as amended (the “Revolving
Agreement”), in order to increase the lending commitment to $50.0 million (subject to potential increases up to $100.0 million) and to extend the maturity date
from December 20, 2011 to June 3, 2013. The Revolving Agreement initially provided for a revolving credit facility in the maximum principal amount of $75.0
million. After a series of amendments that provided covenant exceptions for the Notes issued or to be issued under the Master Agreement and relaxed or deleted
certain other covenants, the maximum principal amount was reduced to $20.0 million. The calculation of interest and fees is generally based on our quarterly ratio
of funded debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, and non-cash stock-based compensation. Interest is charged at a rate equal to 0.50%
to 1.00% above the London Interbank Offering Rate (“LIBOR”) or 1.00% below the base rate, each as more fully defined in the Loan Agreement. Fees include an
upfront fee, an availability fee of 0.10% to 0.20%, and a letter of credit usage fee of 0.50% to 1.00%. The Loan Agreement contains various covenants,
limitations, and events of default customary for similar facilities for similar borrowers. The 90-day LIBOR was 0.53% and 0.25% as of June 30, 2010 and
December 31, 2009, respectively. There were no borrowings against this facility at June 30, 2010 or December 31, 2009.
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All three of these credit agreements require us to maintain certain financial ratios and comply with certain other covenants. We were in compliance with all
such covenants as of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009.

Neither we nor our subsidiaries has ever incurred off-balance sheet obligations through the use of, or investment in, off-balance sheet derivative financial
instruments or structured finance or special purpose entities organized as corporations, partnerships or limited liability companies or trusts.

We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents, short-term investment portfolio and funds generated from operations, together with our Master
Agreement and the Loan Agreement described above, will be sufficient to satisfy our normal liquidity needs through at least the end of 2010. Additionally, we
believe that funds generated from future operations will be sufficient to satisfy our normal liquidity needs, including the required annual principal payments on
our long-term debt.

Historically, much of our cash has been used for acquisitions. If additional acquisition opportunities should become available that exceed our current cash
flow, we believe that given our relatively low debt-to-total-capitalization ratio, we would be able to raise additional capital through either the private or public
debt markets.

In addition, we currently have a shelf registration statement with the SEC registering the potential sale of an indeterminate amount of debt and equity
securities in the future, from time to time, to augment our liquidity and capital resources.
 
ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk is the potential loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices, such as interest rates and equity prices. We are exposed to market
risk through our investments, revolving credit line and term loan agreements.

Our invested assets are held as cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and investments, available-for-sale marketable equity securities, non-marketable
equity securities and certificates of deposit. These investments are subject to interest rate risk and equity price risk. The fair values of our cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash and investments, and certificates of deposit at June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009 approximated their respective carrying values
due to their short-term duration and therefore such market risk is not considered to be material.

We do not actively invest or trade in equity securities. In addition, we generally dispose of any significant equity securities received in conjunction with an
acquisition shortly after the acquisition date.
 
ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation (the “Evaluation”) required by Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”), under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), of the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange Act (“Disclosure Controls”) as of June 30,
2010. Based on the Evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that the design and operation of our Disclosure Controls were effective to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in SEC rules and forms and (ii) accumulated and communicated to our senior management, including our CEO and CFO, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosures.

Changes in Internal Controls

There has not been any change in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the Evaluation that occurred during the quarter
ended June 30, 2010 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management, including our CEO and CFO, does not expect that our Disclosure Controls and internal controls will prevent all error and all fraud. A
control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.
Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their
costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of
fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that
breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two
or more people, or by management override of the control.
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The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that
any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, a control may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system,
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

CEO and CFO Certifications

Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 are the Certifications of the CEO and the CFO, respectively. The Certifications are supplied in accordance with Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Section 302 Certifications”). This Item 4 of this Report is the information concerning the Evaluation referred to in the
Section 302 Certifications and this information should be read in conjunction with the Section 302 Certifications for a more complete understanding of the topics
presented.

PART II
 

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In Item 3 of Part I of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for its fiscal year ending December 31, 2009, certain information concerning certain
legal proceedings and other matters was disclosed. Such information was current as of the date of filing. During the Company’s fiscal quarter ending June 30,
2010, no new legal proceedings, or material developments with respect to existing legal proceedings, occurred which require disclosure in this Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q.
 
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

There were no material changes in the risk factors previously disclosed in Item 1A, “Risk Factors” included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 2009.
 
ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

The following exhibits are filed as a part of this Report:
 
  3.1

 

Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation (adopted April 24, 2003) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3a to Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2003), and Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3a to Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 1999).

  3.2  Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3b to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002).

10.1  Employment Agreement and Addendum No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2010, between the Registrant and Kenneth D. Kirk.

31.1  Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification by the Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant.

31.2  Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification by the Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant.

32.1  Section 1350 Certification by the Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant.

32.2  Section 1350 Certification by the Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant.

101.INS  XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
 
  BROWN & BROWN, INC.

 /S/    CORY T. WALKER        

Date: August 4, 2010

 

Cory T. Walker
Sr. Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

(duly authorized officer, principal financial officer and principal
accounting officer)
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Exhibit 10.1

BROWN & BROWN, INC.

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT, dated June 1, 2010 (this “Agreement”), is made and entered into by and between BROWN & BROWN, INC., a
Florida corporation (the “Company”) and KEN KIRK resident of the State of ARIZONA (the “Employee”).

1. Definitions. “Company” means Brown & Brown, Inc. as well as any successor entity formed by merger or acquisition, including any company that may
acquire a majority of the stock of Brown & Brown, Inc. and, with respect to Sections 8, 9 and 10 hereof, also means its subsidiaries, affiliated companies and any
company operated or managed by the Company as of the time this Agreement is entered into, and as of the time the Agreement is terminated. With respect to
Section 9 hereof, “Employee” also means any company or business in which Employee has an equity interest or a controlling or managing interest.

2. Employment. The Company hereby employs or continues to employ Employee upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.

3. Term. The term of the Agreement shall be continuous until terminated by either party, except that termination shall be subject to the provisions of
Section 7, below.

4. Extent of Duties. Employee shall work full time for the Company and shall also perform such duties as specified from time to time by the Company.
During the term of Employee’s employment under this Agreement, Employee shall not, directly or indirectly, engage in the insurance business in any of its
phases, either as a broker, agent, solicitor, consultant or participant, in any manner or in any firm or corporation engaged in the business of insurance or
reinsurance, except for the account of the Company or as directed by the Company. Unless otherwise agreed, Employee shall devote all of Employee’s productive
time to duties outlined in this Section 4 and shall not engage in any other gainful employment without written consent of the Company.

5. Compensation.

(a) If Employee is a Producer, then Employee’s compensation will be based on the commission system in effect and applicable at this time to the
undersigned. Employee acknowledges that the commission structure has been explained to Employee, and understands that the system may be changed at any
time upon notice to Employee.

(b) If Employee is not a Producer, then Employee’s compensation shall be as agreed between Company and Employee from time to time.

6. Benefits. Employee shall be entitled to enjoy the same benefits as generally conferred upon any other employees of comparable rank within the
Company. This includes plans such as life and health insurance. Employee acknowledges that the applicable benefits have been explained to Employee.
Employee understands that such benefits are provided by the Company at the Company’s discretion and may be changed, increased, decreased or eliminated from
time to time. Employee also understands that the Company reserves the right to approve business development and entertainment privileges on a case-by-case
basis to Producers based upon the discretion of management, without granting equal or equivalent privileges to other Producers.



7. Termination. The employment relationship memorialized by this Agreement may be terminated by Company or Employee at any time, with or without
cause. Termination of Employee’s employment under this Agreement shall not release either Employee or the Company from obligations hereunder arising or
accruing through the date of such termination nor from the provisions of Sections 8,9 and 10 of this Agreement. On notice of termination of or by the Employee,
the Company has the power to suspend the Employee from all duties on the date notice is given, and to immediately require return of all professional
documentation as described in the Agreement. Company has the further right to impound all property on Company premises, including such property owned by
Employee, for a reasonable time following termination, to permit Company to inventory the property and ensure that its property and trade secrets are not
removed from the premises. Employee acknowledges that Employee has no right or expectation of privacy with respect to property kept on Company premises,
including any such information maintained on computer systems utilized by Employee during employment by Company.

8. Confidential Information; Covenant Not to Solicit or Service Customers or Prospective Customers; Related Matters.

(a) Employee recognizes and acknowledges that the Confidential Information (as hereafter defined) constitutes valuable, secret, special, and unique
assets of Company. Employee covenants and agrees that, during the term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years following termination of Employee’s
employment with the Company for any reason (whether voluntary or involuntary), Employee will not disclose the Confidential Information to any person, firm,
corporation, association, or other entity for any reason or purpose without the express written approval of Company and will not use the Confidential Information
except in Company’s business. It is expressly understood and agreed that the Confidential Information is the property of Company and must be immediately
returned to Company upon demand. The term “Confidential Information” includes all information, whether or not reduced to written or recorded form, that is
related to Company and that is not generally known to competitors of the Company nor intended for general dissemination, whether furnished by Company or
compiled by Employee, including but not limited to: (i) lists of the Company’s customers, insurance carriers, Company accounts and records pertaining thereto;
and (ii) prospect lists, policy forms, and/or rating information, expiration dates, information on risk characteristics, information concerning insurance markets for
large or unusual risks, and all other types of written information customarily used by Company or available to the Employee. Employee understands that it is
Company’s intention to maintain the confidentiality of this information notwithstanding that employees of Company may have free access to the information for
the purpose of performing their duties with Company, and notwithstanding that employees who are not expressly bound by agreements similar to this agreement
may have access to such information for job purposes. Employee acknowledges that it is not practical, and shall not be necessary, to mark such information as
“confidential,” nor to transfer it within the Company by confidential envelope or communication, in order to preserve the confidential nature of the information.

(b) For a period of two (2) years following termination of Employee’s employment with the Company for any reason (whether voluntary or
involuntary), Employee specifically agrees not to solicit, divert, accept, nor service, directly or indirectly, as insurance solicitor, insurance agent, insurance broker,
insurance wholesaler, managing general agent, or otherwise, for Employee’s account or the account of any other agent, broker, or insurer, either as officer,
director, stockholder, owner, partner, employee, promoter, consultant, manager, or otherwise, any insurance or bond business of any kind or character from any
person, firm, corporation, or other entity, that is a customer or account of the Company during the term
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of this Agreement, or from any prospective customer or account to whom the Company made proposals about which Employee had knowledge, or in which
Employee participated, during the last two (2) years of Employee’s employment with Company. For purposes of this Agreement, Employee acknowledges that
informing existing clients or prospects that Employee is or may be leaving Company prior to leaving employment of Company shall be deemed to constitute
prohibited solicitation under this Agreement.

(c) Employee agrees that Company shall have the right to communicate the terms of this Agreement to any third parties, including but not limited to,
any past, present or prospective employer of Employee. Employee waives any right to assert any claim for damages against Company or any officer, employee or
agent of Company arising from disclosure of the terms of this Agreement.

(d) In the event of a breach or threatened breach of the provisions of this Section 8, Company shall be entitled to injunctive relief as well as any
other applicable remedies at law or in equity. Employee understands and agrees that without such protection, Company’s business would be irreparably harmed,
and that the remedy of monetary damages alone would be inadequate.

(e) Should legal proceedings (including arbitration proceedings) have to be brought by the Company against the Employee to enforce this
Agreement, the period of restriction under this Section 8 shall be deemed to begin running on the date of entry of an order granting the Company preliminary
injunctive relief and shall continue uninterrupted for the next succeeding two (2) years. The Employee acknowledges that the purposes of this Section 8 would be
frustrated by measuring the period of restriction from the date of termination of employment where the Employee failed to honor the Agreement until directed to
do so by court order.

(f) The provisions of this Section 8 shall be independent of any other provision of this Agreement, and the existence of any claim or cause of action
by the Employee against the Company, whether predicated on this Agreement or otherwise, shall not constitute a defense to the enforcement of this Section 8 by
the Company.

(g) Should a court of competent jurisdiction declare any of the covenants set forth in this Section 8 unenforceable, each of the parties hereto agrees
that such court shall be empowered and shall grant Company injunctive relief reasonably necessary to protect its interest with respect to the enforceable
provisions hereof.

9. Organizing Competitive Businesses; Soliciting Company Employees. Employee agrees that so long as Employee is working for Company, Employee
will not undertake the planning or organizing of any business activity competitive with the work Employee performs. Employee agrees that Employee will not,
for a period of two (2) years following termination of Employee’s employment with the Company for any reason (whether voluntary or involuntary), directly or
indirectly solicit or seek to induce any of the Company’s employees to leave the Company’s employ for any reason, including, without limitation, to work for
Employee or any other competitive company. Employee acknowledges and agrees that all activities under this Section 9 shall be presumed to be in aid of
prohibited solicitation under the terms of Section 8 of this Agreement, and shall justify injunctive relief as provided in Section 8.

10. Protection of Company Property. All records, files, manuals, lists of customers, blanks, forms, materials, supplies, computer programs and other
materials furnished to the Employee by the Company, used by Employee on its behalf, or generated or obtained by Employee during the course of Employee’s
employment, shall be and remain the property of Company. Employee shall be deemed the bailee thereof for the use and benefit of Company and shall safely
keep and preserve such property, except
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as consumed in the normal business operations of Company. Employee acknowledges that this property is confidential and is not readily accessible to Company’s
competitors. Upon termination of employment hereunder, the Employee shall immediately deliver to Company or its authorized representative all such property,
including all copies, remaining in the Employee’s possession or control.

11. Attorneys’ Fees. In the event of a dispute concerning the terms of this Agreement, each party shall bear its own attorney’s fees, court costs, and other
dispute-related costs and expenses.

12. Notices.

(a) Each party giving or making any notice or other communication (each, a “Notice”) pursuant to this Agreement shall: (i) give the Notice in
writing; and (ii) use one of the following methods of delivery: (A) personal delivery; (B) registered or certified mail, in each case, return receipt requested and
postage prepaid; (C) nationally recognized overnight courier, with all fees prepaid; or (D) facsimile.

(b) Notices shall be addressed as indicated below, or to such other addressee or to such other address as may be designated by a party in a Notice
pursuant to this Section 12:
 
If to Company:

  

Brown & Brown, Inc.
220 S. Ridgewood Avenue
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
Attention: Robert W. Lloyd, General Counsel
Facsimile No.: (386) 239-7293

If to Employee:   Most current residence address on file with Company

13. Waiver of Breach. The waiver by either party of a breach of any provision of the Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any
subsequent breach by the other party.

14. Entire Agreement. This instrument contains the entire agreement of the parties. All employment agreements entered into which are dated prior to this
Agreement are considered null and void, unless and to the extent otherwise stated herein. This Agreement may not be changed orally but only by an agreement in
writing signed by the party against whom enforcement of any waiver, change, modification, extension or discharge is sought.

15. Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding on and inure to the benefit of the respective parties and their respective heirs, legal representatives,
successors and assigns. No assignment, consent by Employee, or notice to Employee shall be required to render this Agreement enforceable by any entity defined
as “Company” in this Agreement.

16. Interpretation. This Agreement shall not be construed or interpreted in a manner adverse to any party on the grounds that such party was responsible for
drafting any portion of it.

17. Waiver of Jury Trial. Employee and Company hereby knowingly, voluntarily and intentionally waive any right either may have to a trial by
jury with respect to any litigation related to or arising out of, under or in conjunction with this Agreement, or Employee’s employment with the
Company.
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18. Assignment and Enforcement. Employee agrees that Company may assign this Agreement to any entity in connection with any sale or transfer of some
or all of Company’s assets or subsidiary corporations, or the merger or other business combination by Company with or into any business entity. Employee
further agrees to be found by the provisions of this Agreement for benefit of the Company or its parent or any subsidiary or affiliate thereof to whose employ
Employee may be transferred, without the necessity that this Agreement or another employment agreement be re-executed at the time of such transfer. Employee
may not assign or delegate Employee’s rights or obligations hereunder in whole or in part without the Company’s prior written consent. Subject to the foregoing,
this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties' respective successors and assigns.

19. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and enforced according to the internal laws of the State of Florida, excluding laws
related to conflicts of law.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Employment Agreement as of the date first set forth above.
 
Witnesses (2):   BROWN & BROWN, INC.

1.    By:  

2.    Name:  Cory T. Walker
As to Company   Title:  SVP & CFO

Witnesses (2):   EMPLOYEE

1.    

2.    Print Name:  KEN KIRK
As to Employee    
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BROWN & BROWN, INC.

ADDENDUM NO. 1 TO
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS ADDENDUM NO. 1 TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Addendum”), dated as of June 1, 2010, hereby amends that certain Employment
Agreement effective as of June 1, 2010 (the “Agreement”) between BROWN & BROWN, INC. (the “Company”) and KENNETH D. KIRK (“Employee”) as
follows:

1. The Agreement is amended to reflect that from and after the effective date above, Section 5 of the Agreement shall be amended by inserting the
following:

(a) Employee’s annualized salary shall be $346,068.06.

(b) Company shall pay Employee $8,800.00 no later than June 1, 2010 in full and final settlement of any issues related to the bonus amount payable
to Employee for 2009.

(c) By March 1, 2011, and expressly conditioned upon Employee’s continuous employment in good standing with Company through January 1,
2011:

(i) Company shall pay Employee twenty-five percent (25%) of the 2010 bonus per the Senior Leader Bonus Plan previously agreed and
provided to Employee; and

(ii) Employee’s 401(k) will be credited with any company profit sharing match made in 2011 for the 2010 calendar year 40I(k) employee
contributions.

2. Sections 3 and 7 of the Agreement is amended as follows:

(a) Company shall continue to employ Employee through January 1, 2011, and receive all benefits consistent with employment through that date
including those identified above so long as Employee remains in good standing with the Company. “Good standing” as used in this Addendum shall mean full
time employment with the Company, under the sole direction and supervision of the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer, through January 1, 2011.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Employee may only be discharged for Cause, and may only be deemed not in good standing for engaging in conduct described
below. As used herein, the term “Cause” shall mean the following material conduct occurring after the execution of the Agreement and this Addendum:

(i) A material breach by Employee of any of the terms of the Agreement, this Addendum, or any other agreement between Employee, the
Company, or any of their successors, subsidiaries or affiliates;

(ii) Failure by Employee to perform the services reasonably required of Employee by the President and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company;

(iii) Engaging in conduct that rises to the level of unlawful discrimination or harassment based upon race, sex, national origin, religion,
disability, age or any other characteristic for which discrimination or harassment is prohibited under applicable federal or state law;

(iv) Commission by Employee of (A) a felony, (B) a crime involving moral turpitude, (C) any act involving dishonesty, fraud, theft,
embezzlement, conversion or misappropriation,
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(D) breach of Employee’s duty of loyalty to the Company, (E) breach of any fiduciary duties to the Company, (F) any other act that otherwise damages the
Company, its business or its material assets, (G) material violation by Employee of the Company’s code of ethics, or (H) any act of threatening, inappropriate or
abusive behavior that disrupts the normal day-to-day operation of a profit center, all of which shall be as determined by the Company in its sole discretion;

(v) Current alcohol or substance abuse that the Company deems, in its reasonable discretion, materially impairs Employee’s abilities to
perform Employee’s duties under this Agreement; or

(vi) The loss, limitation or suspension of Employee’s license to write insurance in any jurisdiction where such license is material to the
performance of Employee’s duties hereunder.

(b) From the date of this Addendum through the date of termination of Employee’s employment, Employee will facilitate a smooth transition of
Employee’s job responsibilities to other senior leaders of the Company.

3. Section 4 of the Agreement is amended to clarify that Employee’s “full time” status means that Employee may generally utilize his time as he deems
appropriate, so long as such utilization does not violate this Addendum, and that he shall be provided reasonable notice when his services are required. Employee
will not be required to maintain regular office hours. The remaining provisions of Section 4 of the Agreement shall remain effective.

4. The Agreement shall be deemed to be amended where appropriate to conform with the provisions of this Addendum. To the extent that any provision of
the Agreement and this Addendum conflict, this Addendum shall govern. Except as specifically amended by this Addendum, the terms and conditions of the
Agreement shall remain in full force and effect, and the undersigned each reaffirm their respective obligations under the Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Addendum No. 1 to Employment Agreement as of the date first written above.
 

BROWN & BROWN, INC.

By:  
Name:  
Title:  

EMPLOYEE

Kenneth D. Kirk
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Exhibit 31.1

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, J. Powell Brown, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report of Brown & Brown, Inc. (the “Registrant”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2010;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and
have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: August 4, 2010
 

/s/ J. Powell Brown
J. Powell Brown
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

Certification by the Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Cory T. Walker, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report of Brown & Brown, Inc. (the “Registrant”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2010;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and
have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: August 4, 2010
 

/s/ Cory T. Walker
Cory T. Walker
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant to Section 1350 of Title 18 of the United States Code, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Brown & Brown, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2010 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Form 10-Q”), I, J. Powell Brown, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Form 10-Q fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. § 78m or § 78o(d)); and

(2) The information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: August 4, 2010
 
/s/ J. Powell Brown
J. Powell Brown
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 32.2

Certification Pursuant to Section 1350 of Title 18 of the United States Code, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Brown & Brown, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2010 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Form 10-Q”), I, Cory T. Walker, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Form 10-Q fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. § 78m or § 78o(d)); and

(2) The information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: August 4, 2010
 
/s/ Cory T. Walker
Cory T. Walker
Chief Financial Officer


